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BALANCE SHEET

Financial year from », 01/01/2017 to „, 31/12/2017^ <„ EUR ^

ADO Properties S.A.

Heienhaff,1B

L-1736SENNINGERBERG

ASSETS

A. Subscribed capital unpaid

I. Subscribed capital not called

II. Subscribed capital called but

unpaid

B. Formation expenses

C. Fixed assets

I. Intangible assets

1. Costs of development

2. Concessions, patents, licences,

trade marks and similar rights

and assets, if they were

a) acquired for valuable

consideration and need not be

shown under C.1.3

b) created by the undertaking

itself

3. Goodwill, to the extent that it

was acquired for valuable

consideration

4. Payments on account and

intangible assets under

development

II. Tangible assets

1. Land and buildings

2. Plant and machinery

1101

1103

1105

1107

1109

un

1113

1115

1117

1119

1121

1123

1125

1127

1129

Reference(s)

101

103

105

2-2-2.3 ,0,.

109

Ill

113

115

117

119

121

123

125

127

129

Current year

102

104

106

10,219,551
108

1,309,682,216
no

II?

114

116

118

12»

122

124

126

128

130

^

Previous year

10,560,580

1,619,600,199

/,/

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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3. Other fixtures and fittings, tools

and equipment

4. Payments on account and

tangible assets in the course

of construction

III. Financial assets

1. Shares in affiliated undertakings

2. Loans to affiliated undertakings

3. Participating interests

4. Loans to undertakings with

which the undertaking is linked

by virtue of participating
interests

5. Investments held as fixed

assets

6. Other loans

D. Current assets

I. Stocks

1. Raw materials and consumables

2. Work in progress

3. Finished goods and goods
for resale

4, Payments on account

II. Debtors

1. Trade debtors

a) becoming due and payable

within one year

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year

2. Amounts owed by affiliated

undertakings

a) becoming due and payable

within one year

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year

3. Amounts owed by undertakings

with which the undertaking is

linked by virtue of participating
interests

a) becoming due and payable

within one year

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year

4. Other debtors

a) becoming due and payable

within one year

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year

1131

1133

1135

1137

1139

1141

RCSLNr.:

Reference(s)

2.2.4,4.1

2.2.4,4.2

13]

1i3

135

137

139

HI

Bl97554|Matricule:

Current year

1,309,682,216

1,309,682,216

132

131

136

138

140

142

201522102491

Previous year

1,619,600,199

996,700,794

622,874,405

25,000

11-45

1147

1151

IISi

1155

1157

11S9

1161

1163

1165

1167

1169

1171

1173

1175

2.2.5

2.2.5, 5.1

118)

1183
2.2.5, 5.2

M5

147

151

153

155

157

159

161

163

16S

167

169

171

173

175

62,586,197

2,132,621

34

34

1,079,204

1,079,204

179

181

183

185

187

1,053,383

1,053,383

1-16

148

152

154

156

158

160

162

164

166

16S

170

172

174

176

121,695,043

855,459

444,285

444,285

180

182

181

186

188

411,174

406,674

4,500

/ c-

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts



III. Investments

1. Shares in affiliated undertakings

2. Own shares

3. Other investments

IV. Cash at bank and in hand

E. Prepayments

1189

1191

1209

1195

1197

RCSL Nr.:

Reference(s)

Bl97554|Matricule:

Current year

8.1

TOTAL (ASSETS)

191

209

195

197

199

201

60,453,576

1,310,252

1,383,798,216

Page 3/5

201522102491

Previous year

192

210

w>

198

200

202

120,839,584

1,751,855,822

/ ^ /-'.

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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CAPITAL, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

A. Capital and reserves

I. Subscribed capital

II. Share premium account

III. Revaluation reserve

IV. Reserves

1. Legal reserve

2. Reserve for own shares

3. Reserves provided for by the

articles of association

4. Other reserves, including the

fair value reserve

a) other available reserves

b) other non available reserves

V. Profit or loss brought forward

VI. Profit or loss for the financial year

VII. Interim dividends

VIII. Capital investment subsidies

B. Provisions

1. Provisions for pensions and

similar obligations

2. Provisions for taxation

3. Other provisions

C. Creditors

1. Debenture loans

a) Convertible loans

i) becoming due and payable

within one year 1441

ii) becoming due and payable

after more than one year ,m

b) Non convertible loans 1445

i) becoming due and payable

within one year wi

ii) becoming due and payable

after more than one year ,449

2. Amounts owed to credit

institutions ,355

a) becoming due and payable

within one year ,357

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year 1359

1301

1303

130S

1307

1309

1311

1313

1-129

1431

1433

1319

1321

1323

1325

1333

1335

1337

143S

Hi7

1439

Reference(s)

6.1

6.2

6.3, 6.4

6.4

6.4

6.4

2.2.7,7.1

2.2.7, 7.2

2.2.9, 8

8.1

Current year

891,069,615

303

305

307

309

311

313

315

129

431

433

319

331

323

325

331

333

335

337

435

137

439

441

443

445

4-17

449

35S

357

359

54,684

844,345,307

442,956

5,468

437,488

437,488

10,560,579

35,666,089

803,870

372,326

431,544

491,924,731

402,587,912

402,587,912

2,587,912

400,000,000

430

432

434

438

440

Previous year

875,248,526

54,684

845,258,737

441,828

4,340

437,488

437,488

7,913,556

21,579,721

780,475

228,000

552,475

875,826,821

h/.,

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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Reference(s) Current year Previous year

3. Payments received on account
of orders in so far as they are

shown separately as deductions

from stocks ,36,

a) becoming due and payable

within one year 1363

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year uu

4. Trade creditors ,w

a) becoming due and payable

within one year isw

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year 137]

5. Bills of exchange payable 1373

a) becoming due and payable

within one year 1375

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year 1377

6. Amounts owed to affiliated

undertakings 1379

a) becoming due and payable

within one year laai

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year 1383

7. Amounts owed to undertakings

with which the undertaking is

linked by virtue of participating
interests ,,ss

a) becoming due and payable

within one year ,317

b) becoming due and payable

after more than one year 1359

8. Other creditors ,451

a) Tax authorities 1393

b) Social security authorities 1395

c) Other creditors 139?

i) becoming due and

payable within one year 1399

ii) becoming due and

payable after more than

one year 1401

D. Deferred income 1403

TOTAL (CAPITAL, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES)

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

363

365

367

369

371

373

375

377

379

381

3B3

95,914

95,914

86,900,299

199,124

86,701,175

387

389

451

393

395

397

399

401

403

405

2,340,606

1,700,286

963

639,357

639,357

1,383,798,216

364

366

368

370

372

374

376

378

380

382

384

172,578

172,578

873,615,129

153,345

873,461,784

386

388

390

452

394

396

398

400

402

404

406

121,196

121,196

1,917,918

1,329,317

588,601

573,009

15,592

1,751,855,822

/(
'- /
/-(.

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Financial year from c

ADO Properties S.A.

Heienhaff, 1B

L-1736 SENNINGERBERG

01/01/2017 t0 31/12/2017 (in 03 EUR

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

1. Net turnover

2. Variation in stocks of finished

goods and in work in progress

3. Work performed by the undertaking

for its own purposes and capitalised

4. Other operating income

5. Raw materials and consumables and

other external expenses

a) Raw materials and consumables

b) Other external expenses

6. Staff costs

a) Wages and salaries

b) Social security costs

i) relating to pensions

ii) other social security costs

c) Other staff costs

7. Value adjustments

a) in respect of formation expenses

and of tangible and intangible
fixed assets

b) in respect of current assets

8. Other operating expenses

Reference(s)

2.2.8

1703

1705

17)3

1671

1601

1&03

1605

1607

1609

1653

1655

1613

16S7

1659

1661

1621

9

3

Current year

800,000

703

70S

713

671

601

603

605

60,

fi09

653

655

613

6S7

659

661

621

-2,123,791

-2,123,791

-512,857

-512,355

-502

-502

-2,784,610

-2,784,610

-809,063

Previous year

800,000

704

706

7)4

672

602

&04

606

608

610

654

656

614

658

660

662

622

-2,362,741

-2,362,741

-1,713,084

-1,713,084

-1,960,946

-1,960,946

-1,743,917

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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9. Income from participating interests 17,5

a) derived from affiliated undertakings 17,7

b) other income from participating

interests ,719

10. Income from other investments and

loans forming part of the fixed assets

a) derived from affiliated undertakings

b) other income not included under a)

11. Other interest receivable and smilar

income

a) derived from affiliated undertakings

b) other interest and similar income

12. Share of profit or loss of

undertakings accounted for under

the equity method

13. Value adjustments in respect of

financial assets and of investments

held as current assets

172]

1723

] 725

1727

1729

1731

14. Interest payable and similar expenses 1627

a) concerning affiliated undertakings ,629

b) other interest and similar expenses iw

15. Tax on profit or loss isas

16. Profit or loss after taxation m?

17. Other taxes not shown under items

1 tO 1 6 ,637

18. Profit or loss for the financial year ,m

Reference(s)

6.4

Current year

44,038,568

717

719

721

723

725

727

729

731

663

665

627

629

631

635

667

637

M9

44,038,568

9,098

9,098

-2,806,930

-22,413

-2,784,517

-144,326

35,666,089

35,666,089

^

Previous year

28,809,990

718

720

722

724

726

728

730

732

664

666

628

630

632

6J6

668

638

670

28,809,990

19,558

19,558

-61,139

-61,139

-208,000

21,579,721

21,579,721

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

ADO Properties S.A. (hereafter the ‘Company’) was incorporated in Cyprus as Swallowbird Trading & 

Investments Limited on November 13, 2007 as a private limited liability company in accordance with 

the provisions of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. Its registered office was situated in Larnaca, 

Cyprus. On June 8, 2015 the Company deleted its registration in Cyprus and moved its registered office 

and central administration to Luxembourg. 

 

The Company adopted the form of a private limited liability company (société à responsabilité limitée) 

under Luxembourg law. The Company was then converted to a public limited liability company (société 

anonyme) for an unlimited duration under the Luxembourg law by decision of the General Meeting of 

Shareholders dated June 16, 2015 and changed its name to ADO Properties S.A. 

 

On July 23, 2015 the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) and its shares are traded on 

the regulated market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

 

The registered office of the Company is established in 1B Heienhaff L-1736 Luxembourg. The 

Company’s financial year starts January 1 and ends December 31 of each year. 

 

The object of the Company is the acquisition and holding of interests in Luxembourg and/or in foreign 

undertakings, as well as the administration, development and management of such holdings. 

The Company may provide financial assistance to the undertakings forming part of the group of the 

Company such as the providing of loans and granting of guarantees or securities in any kind or form. 

 

The Company may also utilize its funds to invest in real estate and, provided such investment is 

ancillary to or related to the acquisition, holding, administration, development and management of the 

undertaking forming part of the group of the Company, the Company may invest in intellectual property 

rights or any other movable or immovable assets in any kind or form. 

 

The Company may borrow in any kind or form and may privately issue bonds, notes or similar debt 

instruments. 

 

The annual accounts of the Company are prepared under the provision of the law applicable for 

commercial companies in Luxembourg. 

 

The Company also prepares consolidated financial statements under International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. The copies of the consolidated financial 

statements are available at the registered office of the Company or at http://investors.ado.immo. 

 

The Company is included in the consolidated accounts of Shikun & Binui, forming the largest body of 

undertakings of which the Company forms a part as a subsidiary undertaking. The registered office of 

that company is located at 1A HaYarden Street, Airport City 70100, Israel and the consolidated 

financial statements are available at the registered office. 

 

In addition, the Company is included in the consolidated accounts of ADO Group Ltd., forming the 

smallest body of undertakings included in the body of undertakings referred to in the above-mentioned 

paragraph of which the Company forms part as a subsidiary undertaking. The registered office of that 

company is located at 1A HaYarden Street, Airport City 70100, Israel and the consolidated financial 

statements are available at the registered office. 
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NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION (continued) 
 

The provisions of the law of 18 December 2015 on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts and 

the grand-ducal regulation of 18 December 2015 on the layout of balance sheet and profit and loss 

accounts, amending the law of 19 December 2002 have been transposed in these annual accounts.  

The layout and the headings of certain balance sheet and profit and loss account captions have been 

modified accordingly. 

Some comparative figures have been reclassified for the same reason. 

 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION POLICIES 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 

 

The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory 

requirements under the historical cost convention. Accounting policies and valuation rules are, besides 

the ones laid down by the Law of 19 December 2002, determined and applied by the Board of Directors. 

 

The accounting of the Company has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies 

Law, Cap. 113 for the period from November 13, 2007 to June 8, 2015. No significant differences 

resulted in this change of applied accounting principles. 

 

The preparation of annual accounts requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 

requires the Board of Directors to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the accounting 

policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the annual accounts in the period in 

which the assumptions changed. Management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate 

and that these annual accounts present the financial position and results fairly. 

 

The books and records are maintained in EUR and the annual accounts have been prepared in 

accordance with the valuation rules and accounting policies described below. 

 

The accounting policies applied to prepare these annual accounts are in conformity with the going 

concern principle. 

 

2.2 Significant accounting and valuation policies 

 

The main accounting and valuation rules applied by the Company are the following: 

 

2.2.1. Currency translation 

 

Transactions expressed in currencies other than EUR are translated into EUR at the exchange rate 

effective at the time of the transaction. 

 

Formation expenses and long-term assets expressed in currencies other than EUR are translated into EUR 

at the exchange rate effective at the time of the transaction. At the balance sheet date, these assets remain 

translated at historical exchange rates. 

Cash at bank is translated at the exchange rate effective at the balance sheet date. Exchange losses and 

gains are recorded in the profit and loss account of the year. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION POLICIES 

(continued) 
 

2.2 Significant accounting and valuation policies (continued) 

 

Other assets and liabilities are valued individually at the lower, respectively the higher of their value at 

the historical exchange rate or their value determined at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet 

date. The unrealized exchange losses are recorded in the profit and loss account. Realized exchange gains 

and realized exchange losses are recorded in the profit and loss account at the moment of their 

realization. 

 

Where there is an economic link between an asset and a liability, these are valued in total according to 

the method described above, the net unrealized losses are recorded in the profit and loss account, and the 

net unrealized exchange gains are not recognized. 

 

2.2.2. Formation expenses 

 

Formation expenses are written off based on a straight line method over a period of 5 years or until the 

maturity date of the related expense. 

 

2.2.3. Intangible and tangible assets 

 

Intangible and tangible assets are recorded at purchase price including the expenses incidental thereto or 

at production cost, less cumulated depreciation amounts written off and value adjustments. These value 

adjustments are not continued if the reasons for which the value adjustments were made have ceased to 

apply. The amortizations are calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic life. 

 

2.2.4. Financial assets 

 

Shares in affiliated undertakings/participating interests/loans to these undertakings/investments held as 

fixed assets/other loans are valued at purchase price/nominal value (loans and claims) including 

expenses incidental thereto. 

In case of durable diminution in value according to the opinion of the Board of Directors value 

adjustments are made in respect of financial assets, to value them at the lower amount attributed to them 

at the balance sheet date. These value adjustments are not continued if the reasons for which the value 

adjustments were made have ceased to apply. 

 

2.2.5. Debtors 

 

Debtors are valued at their nominal value. They are subject to value adjustments where their recovery is 

compromised. These value adjustments are not continued if the reasons for which the value adjustments 

were made have ceased to apply. 

 

2.2.6. Derivative financial instruments 

 

The Company may enter into derivative financial instruments such as options, swaps and futures. These 

derivative financial instruments are initially recorded at cost. 

At each balance sheet date, unrealized losses are recognized in the profit and loss account whereas gains 

are accounted for when realized. 

In the case of hedging of an asset or a liability that is not recorded at fair value, unrealized gains or 

losses are deferred until the recognition of the realized gains or losses on the hedged item. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION POLICIES 

(continued) 
 

2.2 Significant accounting and valuation policies (continued) 

 

2.2.7. Provisions 

 

Provisions are intended to cover losses or debts, the nature of which is clearly defined and which, at the 

date of balance sheet, are either likely to be incurred or certain to be incurred but uncertain as to their 

amount or the date on which they will arise. 

Provisions may also be created to cover charges which originate in the financial year under review or in 

a previous financial year, the nature of which is clearly defined and which at the date of the balance 

sheet are either likely to be incurred or certain to be incurred but uncertain as to their amount or the date 

on which they will arise. 

 

Provisions for taxation corresponding to the tax liability estimated by the Company for the financial 

years for which the tax return has not yet been filed are recorded under the caption ‘Provisions for 

taxation’. The advance payments are shown in the assets of the balance sheet under ‘Other debtors’. 

 

2.2.8. Net turnover 

 

The net turnover comprises the amounts of management fees charged to ADO Properties GmbH, 

Germany. 

 

2.2.9. Creditors 

 

Creditors are recorded at repayable amount. 
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NOTE 3 - FORMATION EXPENSES 
 

Formation expenses comprise incorporation expenses, expenses incurred for the capital increase, costs 

incurred for the IPO and costs incurred for bond issuance (covering mainly underwriting, appraisal, 

legal and audit expenses). 

 

The movements during the year are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* During the year, the addition of the formation expenses is composed of the following element: 

 

Nature and date of the formation expense Amount (In EUR) 

Bond issuance costs in July 2017 2,443,581 

 

 

 

  

 2017 

 (In EUR) 

Gross book value – opening balance 13,193,442 

Addition(s) for the year * 2,443,581 

(Disposals for the year) - 

Gross book value – closing balance 15,637,023 

  

(Accumulated value adjustments – opening balance) (2,632,862) 

(Additions for the year) (2,784,610) 

Reversals for the year - 

(Accumulated value adjustments – closing balance) (5,417,472) 

  

Net book value – closing balance 10,219,551 

Net book value – opening balance 10,560,580 
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NOTE 4 - FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

4.1 Shares in affiliated undertakings 

 

The movements during 2017 are as follows: 

 

The movements during 2016 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2017 

 (In EUR) 

Gross book value – opening balance 996,700,794 

Additions for the year 312,981,422 

(Disposals for the year) - 

Gross book value – closing balance 1,309,682,216 

  

(Accumulated value adjustments – opening balance) - 

(Additions for the year) - 

Reversals for the year - 

(Accumulated value adjustments – closing balance) - 

  

Net book value – closing balance 1,309,682,216 

Net book value – opening balance 996,700,794 

 2016 

 (In EUR) 

Gross book value – opening balance 553,079,035 

Additions for the year 443,621,759 

(Disposals for the year) - 

Gross book value – closing balance 996,700,794 

  

(Accumulated value adjustments – opening balance) - 

(Additions for the year) - 

Reversals for the year - 

(Accumulated value adjustments – closing balance) - 

  

Net book value – closing balance 996,700,794 

Net book value – opening balance 553,079,035 
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NOTE 4 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

4.1 Shares in affiliated undertakings (continued) 

 

As at the year-end, the Company held the following shares in affiliated undertakings: 

 
  Ownership 

Company’s name Registered country % 

Adest Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Adoa Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Adom Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Adon Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Ahava Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Anafa 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Anafa 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

GAMAZI Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Anafa Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Badolina Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Berale Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Bamba Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Zman Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

ADO Immobilien Management GmbH Germany 100 

CCM City Construction Management GmbH Germany 100 

Drontheimer Str. 4 Grundst. GmbH Germany 94 

Eldalote Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

NUNI Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

KREMBO Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

TUSSIK Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Geut Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Gozal Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Gamad Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Geshem Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Lavlav 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Lavlav 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Lavlav 3 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Lavlav Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Mastik Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Maya Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Mezi Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Muse Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Papun Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Nehederet Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Neshama Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Osher Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Pola Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

ADO Properties GmbH Germany 100 

Reshet Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 18. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 19. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 20. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 21. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 22. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 23. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 24. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 25. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 26. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 27. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 
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NOTE 4 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

4.1 Shares in affiliated undertakings (continued) 
  Ownership 

Company’s name Registered country % 

Sababa 28. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 29. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 30. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 31. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Sababa 32. Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Shemesh Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Stav Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Tamuril Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Tara Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Tehila 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Tehila 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Tehila Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Trusk Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Wernerwerkdamm 25 Berlin Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Yarok Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Yahel Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Yussifun Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

Bombila  Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94 

ADO SBI Holdings S.A. & Co. KG Germany 94 

Yabeshet Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Melet Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Seret Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Sheket Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Central Facility Management GmbH Germany 100 

Arafel Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Zamir Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Yadit Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Sharav Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Sipur Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Matok Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Barbur Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.9 

Jessica Properties BV Netherlands 94.5 

Alexandra Properties BV Netherlands 94.44 

Marbien BV Netherlands 94.9 

Meghan Properties BV Netherlands 94.44 

Parpar Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

ADO Finance B.V. Netherlands 100 

Ofek 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Ofek 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Ofek 3 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Ofek 4 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Ofek 5 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Galim 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Galim 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

Galim 3 Grundstücks GmbH  Germany 100 

Songbird 1 ApS Denmark 60 

Songbird 2 ApS Denmark 60 

Joysun 1 B.V. Netherlands 60 

Joysun 2 B.V. Netherlands 60 

Hanpaka Holding GmbH Germany 100 

Dvash 1 Holding GmbH Germany 100 

Dvash 2 Holding GmbH Germany 100 
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NOTE 4 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

4.1 Shares in affiliated undertakings (continued) 
  Ownership 

Company’s name Registered country % 

Rimon Holding GmbH Germany 100 

Bosem Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 

ADO FC Management Unlimited Company Ireland 100 

Horef Holding GmbH Germany 100 

ADO 9110 Holding GmbH (formerly known as Dekel 

Grundstücks GmbH) Germany 100 

Silan Holding GmbH Germany 100 

ADO Sonnensiedlung S.à r.l. (formerly known as 

Brandenburg Properties 5 S.à r.l.) Luxembourg 94.9 

ADO Treasury GmbH Germany 100 

ADO 9360 Holding GmbH Germany 100 

ADO 9500 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.9 

ADO 9540 Holding GmbH Germany 100 

ADO Lux Finance S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 

 

These affiliated undertakings form part of the Company’s consolidated financial statements prepared 

under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.  
 

The Board of Directors deemed no permanent diminution in value to have occurred in the value of the 

shares in affiliated undertakings. 

 

4.2 Loans to affiliated undertakings 

 

The movements during 2017 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2017 

 (In EUR) 

Gross book value – opening balance 622,874,405 

Additions for the year 577,217,622 

(Repayments during the year) (127,164,747) 
Accrued interest 44,038,568 
Transfers during the year (1,116,965,848) 

Gross book value – closing balance - 

  

(Accumulated value adjustments – opening balance) - 

(Additions for the year) - 

Reversals for the year - 

(Accumulated value adjustments – closing balance) - 

  

Net book value – closing balance - 

Net book value – opening balance 622,874,405 
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NOTE 4 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

4.2 Loans to affiliated undertakings (continued) 

 

The movements during 2016 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
On December 20, 2017 the Company entered into a loan assignment agreement with its fully owned 

subsidiary, ADO Lux Finance S.à r.l.. According to the agreement the Company assigned to ADO Lux 

Finance S.à r.l. its rights to receive repayment of the principal of the loans granted to affiliated 

undertakings in the aggregate amount of EUR 1,034,195,916 and payment of accrued interest on those 

loans in the amount of EUR 70,059,796. The consideration for the assignment remained outstanding as 

an interest-free loan from the Company to ADO Lux Finance S.à r.l.. Additionally, the Company made 

a contribution in kind of receivables relating to accrued interest in the amount of EUR 12,710,136 as a 

non-refundable capital contribution to ADO Lux Finance S.à r.l.. 

 

On December 20, 2017 the Company novated its rights under the above interest-free loan to its fully 

owned subsidiary, ADO FC Management Unlimited Company, in consideration for the set-off and 

discharge if the original interest-free loans granted by ADO FC Management Unlimited to the 

Company. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2016 

 (In EUR) 

Gross book value – opening balance 449,662,775 

Additions for the year 259,808,254 
(Repayments during the year) (115,411,356) 
Accrued interest 28,814,732 

Gross book value – closing balance 622,874,405 

  

(Accumulated value adjustments – opening balance) - 

(Additions for the year) - 

Reversals for the year - 

(Accumulated value adjustments – closing balance) - 

  

Net book value – closing balance 622,874,405 

Net book value – opening balance 449,662,775 
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NOTE 5 - DEBTORS 
 

5.1 Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

Becoming due and payable within one year   

Management fees due from ADO Properties GmbH 1,000,000 400,000 

Other related parties 79,204 44,285 

   

Total 1,079,204 444,285 

 

5.2 Other debtors 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

Becoming due and payable within one year   

VAT receivable 284,520 174,844 

Advances to suppliers 572,591 55,379 

Advance tax payments 8,560 2,942 

Deposit for office rent 4,500 - 

Other receivables 183,212 173,509 

   

Becoming due and payable after more than one year   

Deposit for office rent - 4,500 

   

Total 1,053,383 411,174 

 

NOTE 6 - CAPITAL 
 

6.1 Subscribed capital 

 

The subscribed capital amounts to EUR 54,684 and is divided into 44,100,000 dematerialized shares 

without a nominal value, all of said shares being fully paid up. 

The authorized unissued capital of the Company is set at EUR 750,000,000 without nominal value. 

 

The movements during the year are as follows: 
 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

   

Subscribed capital – opening balance 54,684 43,400 

Subscriptions  - 11,284 

Subscribed capital – closing balance 54,684 54,684 

 

6.2 Share premium 

 

The movements during the year are as follows: 
 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

   

Share premium – opening balance 845,258,737 546,708,730 

Movements for the year (913,430) 298,550,007 

Share premium – closing balance 844,345,307 845,258,737 
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NOTE 6 – CAPITAL (continued) 
 

6.2 Share premium (continued) 

 

Movements for the year 2017 correspond to a distribution made based on a resolution taken during the 

Annual General Meeting which took place on May 2, 2017. The record date was May 3, 2017. 

 

6.3 Legal reserve 

 

The Company is required to allocate a minimum of 5% of its annual net income to a legal reserve after 

deduction of any losses brought forward, until this reserve equals 10% of the subscribed share capital. 

This reserve is non-distributable during the life of the Company. The appropriation to legal reserve is 

effected after approval at the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

 

6.4 Movements for the year on the reserves and profit and loss items 

 

The movements for the year are as follows: 

 
  

Legal reserve 

 

Other reserves 

Profit or loss 

brought forward 

Profit or loss for 

the financial year 

 In EUR 

     

At the beginning of the year 4,340 437,488 7,913,556 21,579,721 

Movements for the year     

Allocation of prior year’s result - - 21,578,593 (21,578,593) 

Allocation to legal reserve 1,128 - - (1,128) 

Dividend distribution - - (18,931,570) - 

Result of the year - - - 35,666,089 

At the end of the year 5,468 437,488 10,560,579 35,666,089 

 

A dividend in the amount of EUR 18,931,570 was paid based on a resolution taken during the Annual 

General Meeting which took place on May 2, 2017. The record date was May 3, 2017. 

 

NOTE 7 - PROVISIONS 
 

7.1 Provisions for taxation 

 

Provisions for taxation correspond to the tax liability estimated by the Company for the financial years 

for which no final assessment notices have been received yet. The advance payments are shown in the 

assets of the balance sheet under ‘Other debtors’. 

 

7.2 Other provisions 

 

Other provisions are presented as follows: 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

   

Provision for KPMG audit services 275,115 205,900 

Provision for transaction costs of acquisitions 22,101 233,642 

Provision for costs relating to the capital increase 112,933 112,933 

Provision for costs relating to the bond issuance 21,395 - 

Total 431,544 552,475 
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NOTE 8 - CREDITORS 
 

Amounts due and payable for the amounts shown under creditors are as follows: 
  

 

Within 

one year 

After one year 

and within  

five years 

 

After more 

than five 

years 

 

 

 

Total 

 In EUR 

     

8.1 Debenture loans – principal - - 400,000,000 400,000,000 

8.1 Debenture loans – accrued interest 2,587,912 - - 2,587,912 

8.2 Trade creditors 95,914 - - 95,914 

8.3 Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings 199,124 - 86,701,175 86,900,299 

8.4 Tax and social security debts 1,701,249 - - 1,701,249 

8.5 Other creditors 639,357 - - 639,357 

Total 5,223,556 - 486,701,175 491,924,731 

 

8.1 Debenture loans 

 

On July 20, 2017 the Company placed unsecured, fixed-rate corporate bonds with a total nominal 

amount of EUR 400 million with institutional investors. The bonds carry an interest rate of 1.5% per 

annum and mature on July 26, 2024. The gross proceeds resulting from the transaction amounted to 

EUR 398.6 million with an issue price of 99.651%. The discount is shown in the assets of the balance 

sheet under ‘Prepayments’ and will be written off based on a straight line method over the lifetime of 

the bond. The net proceeds of the bond will mainly be used to fund future acquisitions. 

 

8.2 Trade creditors 

 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

Becoming due and payable within one year 95,914 172,578 

Total 95,914 172,578 

 

8.3 Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings 

 
 December 31,   

 2017 2016   

 In EUR Interest rate Due date 

 

ADO FC Management Unlimited Company 68,848,935 

 

873,461,784 0% 

23/07/2025-

15/12/2026 

German subsidiaries 17,852,240 - 4-6% 31/12/2025-2027 

Other related parties 199,124 153,345 0% Current balance 

Total 86,900,299 873,615,129   

 

ADO FC Management Unlimited Company is a fully owned subsidiary which granted loans to the 

Company in the amount of EUR 68,848,935 at 0% interest with 10 years’ maturity. 

 

On December 20, 2017 the Company entered into a loan assignment, novation and set-off agreement 

with its German subsidiaries and with ADO FC Management Unlimited Company. After the completion 

of the agreement, the remaining interest free-loan owed to ADO FC Management Unlimited Company 

amounted to EUR 68,848,935 and the remaining loans owed to the German subsidiaries (with interest 

rates of 4-6% per annum) amounted to EUR 17,852,240. 
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NOTE 8 – CREDITORS (continued) 
 

8.4 Tax and social security debts 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

Becoming due and payable within one year   

Social security debts 963 - 

VAT payable 1,700,286 1,329,317 

Total 1,701,249 1,329,317 

 

8.5 Other creditors 
 December 31 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

Becoming due and payable within one year   

Amount payable to staff 618,825 573,009 

Amount payable to ADO Group Ltd 9,412 - 

Other creditors 11,120 - 

Becoming due and payable after more than one year   

Amount payable to ADO Group Ltd - 15,592 

Total 639,357 588,601 

 

NOTE 9 - OTHER EXTERNAL EXPENSES 
 

Other external charges are presented as follows: 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

Real estate rental building and services 29,773 22,947 

Data processing 45,324 34,471 

Legal fees 169,706 215,104 

Accounting and audit fees 944,282 656,708 

Consulting services – external 647,772 893,857 

Consulting services – ADO Group Ltd 54,641 63,448 

Travel and entertainment costs – staff 173,463 189,421 

Other fees 58,830 286,785 

Total 2,123,791 2,362,741 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ADO Properties S.A. 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

 

30 

NOTE 10 - AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
 

Fees billed to the Company and its subsidiaries by KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative, 

Luxembourg, and other member firms of the KPMG network during the year are as follows (excluding 

VAT): 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

 

Audit fees (*) 689,599 1,051,472 

   Thereof: KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative 148,154 651,412 

   

Tax consultancy services 183,917 86,795 

   Thereof: KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative 26,520 25,500 

   

Other non-audit related services 49,300 68,000 

   Thereof: KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative - - 

 

(*) Including audit-related services in relation to share and bond issuance. 

 

NOTE 11 - STAFF 
 

As at December 31, 2017 the Company has 4 full-time employees (2016: 4) and 1 part-time (at 3/10) 

employee since October 2017 with an annual average of 4 employees (2016: 3). 

 

NOTE 12 - EMOLUMENTS GRANTED TO THE MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT 

AND SUPERVISORY BODIES  
 

The emoluments granted to the members of the supervisory bodies in that capacity for the financial year 

are broken down as follows: 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

Directors fee granted to the members of the board of directors 714,781 659,789 

Total 714,781 659,789 

 

The emoluments granted to the members of the senior management (CEO, CFO and COO) are broken 

down as follows: 

 

 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 In EUR 

Fixed salary 662,000 720,080 

Short-term cash incentive 343,000 311,210 

Long-term incentive to be paid in shares 386,900 461,637 

One-time termination payment - 611,666 

Total 1,391,900 2,104,593 
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NOTE 13 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the annual accounts, the Company did not enter into any other 

material related party transactions with its related parties during the year. 

NOTE 14 - OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS 

There is no off balance sheet commitment to report. 

NOTE 15 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

A. On March 9, 2018 the Company signed a EUR 175 million revolving credit facility with a 2

year term and two extension options, each for 1 year.

B. As of the reporting date the Company is in the final steps to set-up a commercial paper program

with a maximum volume of EUR 500 million under which funds with a maximum term of 364

days can be raised at short notice.

C. On March 19, 2018 the Company’s Board proposed to the Annual General Meeting to pay a

dividend in the amount of EUR 26.5 million (EUR 0.60 per share). The Annual General

Meeting will take place on June 19, 2018.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at

ADO Properties S.A.

(In thousands EUR)

Assets

Non-current assets

Investment properties

Advances in respect of investment properties

Property and equipment

Other financial asset

Current assets

Tradmg properties

Advances m respect of trading properties

Restricted bank deposits

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Shareholders' equity

Share capital

Share premium

Reserves

Retained earnings

Total equity attributable to owners of the company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Bonds

Other loans and borrowings

Other financial liabilities

Derivatives

Deferred tax liabilities

Current liabilities

Other loans and borrowings

Other financial liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables

Derivatives,

Tota

Sirf Savion

CEO

As of December 31,

Note

5
28

23

6

7
8
9

10

12

13
14
11
23
16

14
11

15
23

z

2017

3,271,298

34,425

2,783

5,359

3,313,865

42,961

24,352
10,324
5,231

121,530

204,398

3,518,263

55

498,607
330,638
966,090

1,795,390

36,103

1,831,493

396,396
953,955
27,238

2,878

183,443

1,563,910

72,768
867

13,642
35,476

107

122,860

3,518,263

^-^-

2016

2,278,935

11,805

2,148

3,760

2,296,648

39,718
6,419

28,207
6,604

1,377

183,421

265,746

2,562,394

55

499,520
333,872
628,498

1,461,945

24,559

1,486,504

877,326
14,723 *

3,926

117,673

1,013,648

27,388

414*

8,957

25,224

259

62,242

2,562,394

Florian Goldgruber

CFO

Date of approval: March 19, 2018

(*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data - see note 2G regarding basis of preparation

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fmancial statements.
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ADO Properties S.A. 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
 

(In thousands EUR) 

 

   For the year ended 

  December 31, 

  Note 2017 2016 2015 

 

Revenue 17 128,852 109,775 75,753 

Cost of operations  18 (36,174) (32,596) * (19,186) * 

Gross profit  92,678 77,179 56,567 

     

General and administrative expenses  19 (12,762) (13,245) * (7,197) * 

Changes in fair value of investment properties     

and assets held for sale 5 383,638 444,268 158,579 

Other expenses  - - (430) 

     

Results from operating activities  463,554 508,202 207,519 

     

Finance income  1,602 1,972 1,584 

Finance costs  (29,609) (29,700) (25,724) 

Net finance costs 21 (28,007) (27,728) (24,140) 

     

Profit before tax  435,547 480,474 183,379 

     

Income tax expense 16 (68,035) (69,706) (27,372) 

     

Profit for the year  367,512 410,768 156,007 

     

Profit attributable to:     

Owners of the company  355,970 395,150 148,192 

Non-controlling interest  11,542 15,618 7,815 

Profit for the year  367,512 410,768 156,007 

     

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in EUR) 22 8.07 10.11 5.04 

 

 

(*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data – see note 2G regarding basis of preparation 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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ADO Properties S.A. 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

(In thousands EUR) 

 

   For the year ended 

  December 31, 

  Note 2017 2016 2015 

 

 
Profit for the year  367,512 410,768 156,007 

     

     

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     

Hedging reserve classified to profit or loss, net of tax  - 5,275 - 

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 23 1,218 (512) 2,840 

Related tax  60 53 (666) 

Total other comprehensive income  1,278 4,816 2,174 

     

Total comprehensive income for the year  368,790 415,584 158,181 

     

Total comprehensive income attributable to:     

Owners of the company  357,246 399,938 150,359 

Non-controlling interest  11,544 15,646 7,822 

Total comprehensive income for the year  368,790 415,584 158,181 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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ADO Properties S.A. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 

(In thousands EUR) 

   For the year ended 

  December 31, 

  Note 2017 2016 2015 

 
Cash flows from operating activities     

Profit for the year  367,512 410,768 156,007 

Adjustments for:     

Depreciation 19 452 356 256 

Change in fair value of investment properties and assets held for sale 5 (383,638) (444,268) (158,579) 

Net finance costs 21 28,007 27,728 24,140 

Income tax expense 16 68,035 69,706 27,372 

Share-based payment  564 859 349 

Change in short-term restricted bank deposits related to tenants  (4,727) (2,883) (5,878) 

Change in trade receivables  (3,148) 1,116 (3,477) 

Change in other receivables  (3,742) 976 (1,563) 

Change in trading properties  12,830 15,007 7,928 

Change in advances in respect of trading properties  - (6,419) - 

Change in trade payables  1,408 1,509 1,036 

Change in other payables  4,163 2,276 8,207 

Income tax paid  (864) (352) (83) 

Net cash from operating activities  86,852 76,379 55,715 
     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase and CAPEX of investment properties 5 (189,182) (116,839) (416,372) 

Advances paid for investment property purchase 28 (33,975) (11,805) (799) 

Purchase of property and equipment  (795) (784) (1,564) 

Interest received  3 29 35 

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties and assets held for sale  - 1,015 954 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of acquired cash 3 (280,542) (160,244) (89,010) 

Investments in bank deposit  - - (100,000) 

Repayment of bank deposit  - 65,000 35,000 

Change in short-term restricted bank deposits, net  9,453 (4,662) (3,165) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (495,038) (228,290) (574,921) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issue of bonds, net 13 396,185 - - 

Long-term loans received 14 114,606 182,721 338,248 

Repayment of long-term loans 14 (113,163) (158,300) (42,535) 

Short-term loans received  - - 5,980 

Repayment of short-term loans  (13,385) (13,088) (13,062) 

Interest paid  (18,103) (18,762) (16,791) 

Payment from settlement of derivatives  - (6,184) - 

Proceeds from issue of share capital  - - 29 

Issuance of ordinary shares, net  - 292,975 193,000 

Dividend distributed 12 (19,845) (13,475) - 

Loans received from related parties  - - 2,870 

Loans received from related parties (issuance of capital note)   - - 111,250 

Net cash from financing activities  346,295 265,887 578,989 

     

Change in cash and cash equivalents during the year  (61,891) 113,976 59,783 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  183,421 69,445 9,662 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  121,530 183,421 69,445 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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ADO Properties S.A. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

(In thousands EUR) 

 
    Capital     
    reserve from     

    transactions     

    with   Non-  

 Share Share Hedging controlling Retained  controlling Total 

 capital premium reserves shareholder earnings Total interests equity 

 

Balance at January 1, 2017 55 499,520 (2,312) 336,184 628,498 1,461,945 24,559 1,486,504 

         

Total comprehensive income for the year         

         

Profit for the year - - - - 355,970 355,970 11,542 367,512 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - - 1,276 - - 1,276 2 1,278 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 1,276 - 355,970 357,246 11,544 368,790 

         

Transactions with owners, recognized directly in equity         

         

Changes in put option (see note 11) - - - (4,520) - (4,520) - (4,520) 

Dividend distributed (see note 12) - (913) - - (18,932) (19,845) - (19,845) 

Share-based payment (see note 20) - - - 10 554 564 - 564 

         

Balance at December 31, 2017 55 498,607 (1,036) 331,674 966,090 1,795,390 36,103 1,831,493 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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ADO Properties S.A. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

(In thousands EUR) 

Capital 

reserve from 

transactions 

with Non- 

Share Share Hedging controlling Retained controlling Total 

capital premium reserves shareholder earnings Total interests equity 

Balance at January 1, 2016 - 206,600 (7,100) 339,277 246,739 785,516 8,913 794,429 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Profit for the year - - - - 395,150 395,150 15,618 410,768 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - - 4,788 - - 4,788 28 4,816 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 4,788 - 395,150 399,938 15,646 415,584 

Transactions with owners, recognized directly in equity 

Issuance of ordinary shares, net 55 292,920 - - - 292,975 - 292,975

Changes in put option (see note 11) - - - (3,146) - (3,146) - (3,146)

Dividend distributed - - - - (13,475) (13,475) - (13,475)

Share-based payment (see note 20) - - - 53 84 137 - 137

Balance at December 31, 2016 55 499,520 (2,312) 336,184 628,498 1,461,945 24,559 1,486,504 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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ADO Properties S.A. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

(In thousands EUR) 

 
    Capital     

    reserve from     
    transactions     

    with   Non-  

 Share Share Hedging controlling Retained  controlling Total 

 capital premium reserves shareholder earnings Total interests equity 

 

Balance at January 1, 2015 2 13,569 (9,267) 27,350 98,326 129,980 1,091 131,071 

         

Total comprehensive income for the year         

         

Profit for the year - - - - 148,192 148,192 7,815 156,007 

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax - - 2,167 - - 2,167 7 2,174 

Total comprehensive income for the yearx - - 2,167 - 148,192 150,359 7,822 158,181 

         

Transactions with owners, recognized directly in equity         

         

Contribution from shareholders, net of tax - - - 11,339 - 11,339 - 11,339 

Increase of share premium - 29 - - - 29 - 29 

Stock split (2) 2 - - - - - - 

Issuance of ordinary shares, net - 193,000 - - - 193,000 - 193,000 

Conversion of shareholder loans to equity - - - 300,460 - 300,460 - 300,460 

Share-based payment (see note 20) - - - 128 221 349 - 349 

         

Balance at December 31, 2015 - 206,600 (7,100) 339,277 246,739 785,516 8,913 794,429 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1 – ADO Properties S.A. 
 

ADO Properties S.A. (the “Company”) was incorporated as a private limited liability company in 

Cyprus and until June 8, 2015, its legal name was “Swallowbird Trading & Investments Limited”. The 

Company holds and operates a mainly residential assets portfolio and sells units as a separate 

condominium in Berlin, Germany. 

 

The Company deleted its registration in Cyprus and moved its registered office and central 

administration to Luxembourg by decision of the general meeting of shareholders dated June 8, 2015 

and adopted the form of a private limited liability company (société à responsabilité limitée) under 

Luxembourg law. The Company was then converted to a public limited liability company (société 

anonyme) under Luxembourg law by decision of the general meeting of shareholders dated June 16, 

2015 and changed its name to “ADO Properties S.A.” (B-197554). The address of the Company’s 

registered office is Aerogolf Center, 1B Heienhaff, L-1736 Senningerberg, Luxembourg. 

 

On July 23, 2015 the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) and its shares are traded on 

the regulated market (Prime Standard) of Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

 

The Company is a directly held subsidiary of ADO Group Ltd (“ADO Group”), an Israeli company 

traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2017 and for the year then 

ended comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). 

 

Note 2 – Basis of Preparation 
 

A. Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2017, have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the 

European Union (“EU”). 

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the board of directors on March 19, 

2018. 

 

B. Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Group’s functional currency. 

All financial information presented in Euro (“EUR”) has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless 

otherwise indicated. Due to rounding, the figures reported in tables and cross-references may deviate 

from their exact values as calculated. 

 

C. Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except, 

in particular, investment properties, other financial asset, other financial liabilities and derivatives, 

which are measured at fair value. 

 

D. Operating cycle 

The Group has two operating cycles: 

• Holding and operating residential and commercial units: the operating cycle is one year. 

• Selling of units as a separate condominium: the operating cycle is up to three years. 

As a result, current assets and current liabilities also include items the realization of which is intended 

and anticipated to take place within the operating cycle of these operations of up to three years. 
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Note 2 – Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 

E. Use of estimates, judgments and fair value measurement 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 

recognized prospectively. 

 

Judgments and use of estimates 

Information about judgments, assumptions and estimation uncertainties made in applying accounting 

policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial 

statements is included in the following notes: 

 

• Note 16 – Uncertain tax positions (judgments) 

The extent of the certainty that the Group’s tax positions will be accepted (uncertain tax positions) 

and the risk of it incurring any additional tax and interest expenses. This is based on an analysis of 

a number of matters including interpretations of tax laws and the Group’s past experience. New 

information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgment, resulting in 

recognition of additional income tax expense in the period that such a change in judgment occurs. 

 

• Note 16 – Regarding the utilization of losses carried forward (estimations) 

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses carried forward when there is a high 

probability that in the future there will be taxable profits against which carried forward losses can be 

utilized. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments 

about future events. New information may become available that causes the Group to change its 

estimation regarding the utilization of existing tax assets; any such changes to deferred tax assets 

will impact tax income/expense in the period that such a change in estimate occurs. 

 

• Note 5 – Regarding fair value measurement of investment properties (estimations) 

The fair value of investment properties as at December 31, 2017 was assessed by CBRE, an 

industry specialist that has appropriate and recognized professional qualifications and up-to-date 

experience regarding the location and category of the properties. The valuation includes 

assumptions regarding rent, vacancies, maintenance costs and discount rate. These assumptions 

are subject to uncertainties that may lead to either positive or negative value adjustments in the 

future, impacting the profit or loss from changes in fair value of investment properties in the 

period that such a change in estimations occurs. 

 

• Note 23 – Regarding measurement of derivatives at fair value (estimation) 

Derivative valuations are calculated by the financing bank and checked by management. The risk 

that derivatives will not be appropriately valued exists, since the Group needs to make judgments 

about the estimation of the credit risk used by the lending bank and about whether the bank used 

the appropriate market observation for the other variables. New information may become 

available that causes the Group to change its estimation, impacting the profit or loss from changes 

in fair value of derivatives in the period that such a change in estimations occurs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ADO Properties S.A. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

18 

Note 2 – Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 

E. Use of estimates, judgments and fair value measurement (continued) 

 

Determination of fair values 

Preparation of the financial statements requires the Group to determine the fair value of certain assets and 

liabilities. Further information about the assumptions that were used to determine fair value is included in 

the following notes: 

• Note 5, investment properties; and 

• Note 23, financial instruments 

 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as 

possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs 

used in the valuation techniques as follows. 
 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 

 

F. Changes in accounting policies 

 

• Amendment to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows 

 

According to the Amendment, an entity is required to provide disclosures that will enable the users of 

the financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 

changes arising from cash flow and non-cash changes. These disclosures are to be provided with respect 

to the following changes in liabilities arising from financing activities; changes from financing cash 

flows: changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses; the effect of 

changes in foreign exchange rates; changes in fair values; and other changes. The new disclosure 

requirements were included in Note 23 regarding Financial Instruments. 

 

G. Change in classification 

 

The Group performed immaterial classifications in the comparative figures in order to align the 

classification in the comparative figures to the figures of the year ended December 31, 2017. 
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Note 3 – Basis of Consolidation 
 

A. Consolidation methods 

 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and the subsidiaries it controls. The Group 

controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 

entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial 

statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which 

control commences until the date on which control ceases. 

 

In addition to the Company, 195 subsidiaries (2016: 156) have been included in these consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

When buying a company holding real estate assets (“Property Company”), the Group exercises judgment 

to determine whether it is the purchase of a business or a group of assets and liabilities, for the purpose of 

determining the accounting treatment of the transaction. In determining whether a Property Company is a 

business, the Group examines, inter alia, the nature of existing processes in the Property Company, 

including the extent and nature of management, security, cleaning and maintenance services provided to 

tenants. In transactions in which the acquired company is a business, the transaction is accounted for as a 

business combination according to IFRS 3. 

However, in transactions in which the acquired Property Company is not a business, the acquisition cost, 

including transaction costs, is allocated in proportion to the identified assets and liabilities acquired, 

based on their relative fair values at the acquisition date. In this case, neither goodwill nor deferred taxes 

on the temporary difference existing at the date of acquisition are recognized. 

 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but 

only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

 

Non-controlling interests comprise the equity of a subsidiary that cannot be attributed, directly or 

indirectly, to the Company. Profit or loss and any part of other comprehensive income are allocated to 

the owners of the Company and the non-controlling interests. 

 

A put option granted by the Group to non-controlling interests that is settled in cash or another financial 

instrument is recognized as a liability at the present value of the exercise price. In subsequent periods, 

changes in the value of the liability and dividends distributed to non-controlling interests in respect of 

put options are recognized in equity. The Group’s share of a subsidiary’s profits includes the share of 

the non-controlling interests to which the Group granted a put option, also when the non-controlling 

interests have access to the returns arising from the interests in the investee company. 
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Note 3 – Basis of Consolidation (continued) 

B. Scope of consolidation

(1) During the first quarter of 2017, the Group carried out two separate transactions to take over

94% and 94.9%, respectively, of the issued shares of two German entities holding one

condominium building and one residential building located in Berlin, Germany. The total

consideration amounted to EUR 11.6 million (including approximately 2% transaction costs).

The buildings include 86 residential units and 4 commercial units with a total leasable area of

approximately 5.5 thousand sqm.

The purchase of the entities was treated as a purchase of a group of assets and liabilities and not

as a business combination based on IFRS 3, Business combinations, mainly since the Group’s

view was to purchase a portfolio of assets and not to acquire activities, processes and previous

management. Therefore, the total purchase costs were allocated to the assets and liabilities

based on their relative fair values at the purchase date without the recognition of goodwill and

deferred tax as follows:

thousands EUR 

Cash and cash equivalents 349 

Restricted bank deposits 32 

Trade and other receivables 80 

Trading properties 6,696 

Investment properties (*) 5,115 

Trade and other payables (410) 

Other financial liabilities (**) (267) 

Total consideration 11,595 

Consideration already paid in 2016 (6,419) 

Consideration to be paid after the reporting period (***) (41) 

Less cash acquired (349) 

Net cash flow from the acquisition of subsidiaries 4,786 

(*) The fair value of the investment properties as at the takeover date was EUR 4,900 thousand, 

therefore acquisition costs of approximately EUR 0.2 million were recognized under changes 

in fair value of investment properties in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

(**) Other financial liabilities refer to a put option granted to the non-controlling interests (see 

note 11). 

(***) Consideration to be paid refers to transaction costs invoiced after the reporting period. 
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Note 3 – Basis of Consolidation (continued) 

B. Scope of consolidation (continued)

(2) During the second quarter of 2017, the Group took over 94.9% of the issued shares of a German

entity holding 10 residential buildings located in Berlin, Germany. The total consideration

amounted to EUR 75.5 million (including approximately 3% transaction costs). The buildings

include 298 residential units and 30 commercial units with a total leasable area of approximately

27.4 thousand sqm.

The purchase of the entities was treated as a purchase of a group of assets and liabilities and not

as a business combination based on IFRS 3, Business combinations, mainly since the Group’s

view was to purchase a portfolio of assets and not to acquire activities, processes and previous

management. Therefore, the total purchase costs were allocated to the assets and liabilities

based on their relative fair values at the purchase date without the recognition of goodwill and

deferred tax as follows:

thousands EUR 

Cash and cash equivalents 40 

Restricted bank deposits 562 

Trade and other receivables 105 

Investment properties (*) 77,887 

Trade and other payables (514) 

Other financial liabilities (**) (2,557) 

Total consideration 75,523 

Consideration to be paid after the reporting period (***) (229) 

Less cash acquired (40) 

Net cash flow from the acquisition of subsidiaries 75,254 

(*) The fair value of the investment properties as at the takeover date was EUR 75,900 

thousand, therefore acquisition costs of approximately EUR 2 million were recognized under 

changes in fair value of investment properties in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

(**) Other financial liabilities refer to a put option granted to the non-controlling interests (see 

note 11). 

(***) Consideration to be paid refers to transaction costs invoiced after the reporting period. 
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Note 3 – Basis of Consolidation (continued) 
 

B. Scope of consolidation (continued) 

 

(3) During the third quarter of 2017, the Group carried out six separate transactions to take over 

94%-94.9% of the issued shares of 15 German entities holding 20 residential buildings and one 

commercial building located in Berlin, Germany. The total consideration amounted to EUR 86.8 

million (including approximately 3.3% transaction costs). The buildings include 524 residential 

units and 63 commercial units with a total leasable area of approximately 44.4 thousand sqm. 

 

The purchase of the entities was treated as a purchase of a group of assets and liabilities and not 

as a business combination based on IFRS 3, Business combinations, mainly since the Group’s 

view was to purchase a portfolio of assets and not to acquire activities, processes and previous 

management. Therefore, the total purchase costs were allocated to the assets and liabilities 

based on their relative fair values at the purchase date without the recognition of goodwill and 

deferred tax as follows: 

 

 thousands EUR 

Cash and cash equivalents 644 

Restricted bank deposits 88 

Trade and other receivables 278 

Property and equipment 292 

Advances in respect of investment properties 450 

Investment properties (*) 115,028 

Trade and other payables (1,400) 

Bank loans (**) (25,594) 

Other financial liabilities (***) (2,924) 

Total consideration 86,862 

  

Consideration to be paid after the reporting period (****) (677) 

Less cash acquired (644) 

Net cash flow from the acquisition of subsidiaries 85,541 

 

(*) The fair value of the investment properties as at the takeover date was EUR 111,150 

thousand. Acquisition costs of approximately EUR 3.8 million were recognized under 

changes in fair value of investment properties in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

(**) The bank loans were repaid during the period, consequently, an amount of EUR 2.5 million 

was recognized as one-off refinance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

(***) Other financial liabilities refer to a put option granted to the non-controlling interests (see 

note 11). 

 

(****) Consideration to be paid refers to transaction costs invoiced after the reporting period. 
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Note 3 – Basis of Consolidation (continued) 

B. Scope of consolidation (continued)

(4) During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Group carried out two separate transactions to take over

94.9% of the issued shares of 18 German entities holding 21 residential buildings and one

condominium building located in Berlin, Germany. The total consideration amounted to EUR

116.1 million (including approximately 3.6% transaction costs). The buildings include 1,325

residential units and 62 commercial units with a total leasable area of approximately 102

thousand sqm.

The purchase of the entities was treated as a purchase of a group of assets and liabilities and not

as a business combination based on IFRS 3, Business combinations, mainly since the Group’s

view was to purchase a portfolio of assets and not to acquire activities, processes and previous

management. Therefore, the total purchase costs were allocated to the assets and liabilities

based on their relative fair values at the purchase date without the recognition of goodwill and

deferred tax as follows:

thousands EUR 

Cash and cash equivalents 612 

Restricted bank deposits 189 

Trade and other receivables 221 

Trading properties 5,647 

Investment properties (*) 213,509 

Trade and other payables (1,229) 

Bank loans (100,115) 

Derivatives (18) 

Other financial liabilities (**) (2,722) 

Total consideration 116,094 

Consideration to be paid after the reporting period (***) (521) 

Less cash acquired (612) 

Net cash flow from the acquisition of subsidiaries 114,961 

(*) The fair value of the investment properties as at the takeover date was EUR 205,840 

thousand. Acquisition costs of approximately EUR 7.7 million were recognized under 

changes in fair value of investment properties in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

(**) Other financial liabilities refer to a put option granted to the non-controlling interests (see 

note 11). 

(***) Consideration to be paid refers to transaction costs invoiced after the reporting period. 
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Note 4 – Significant Accounting Policies 
 

A. Investment properties 
 

Investment property is property held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both and is not 

owner-occupied or held for sale in the ordinary course of business. 

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. In subsequent periods, 

investment property is measured at fair value, and changes in fair value are recognized in the statement 

of profit and loss. 

 

Profits or losses on the disposal of investment property are determined by comparing the net proceeds 

from the disposal with the asset’s carrying amount (the fair value of the investment property as of the 

disposal date). The profit or loss on the disposal of investment properties is recognized when the 

significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group 

has no further substantial acts to complete under the contract. 

 

In certain circumstances the Group decides to change the use of existing buildings that are rented out 

and classified as investment property into trading properties; the Group then begins the process of 

converting such buildings. When the conversion is completed, the necessary approvals are received and 

the marketing of the apartments begins, the aforesaid buildings are reclassified from investment 

properties to trading properties. The cost of trading properties is determined according to the fair value 

at the time of the change in use. 

 

The Group presents advances in respect of investment properties as non-current assets and does not 

include them as part of the investment properties. In subsequent periods, when the transactions are 

completed, the advances are reclassified to investment properties. 

 

B. Trading properties 

 

Trading properties are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of the trading 

properties includes the costs incurred in acquiring the trading properties and bringing them to their 

existing location and condition. The net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business, less selling expenses. 

 

C. Restricted bank deposits 

 

Restricted bank deposits consist of deposits in banks that the Group has pledged to secure banking 

facilities, deposits received from tenants, and restricted proceeds from condominium sales. The Group 

cannot use these deposits freely for operations. 

 

D. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits in banks and short-term investments with an 

original term of up to three months. 
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Note 4 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

E. Financial instruments 

 

(1) Non-derivative financial assets 

The Group’s non-derivative financial assets are loans and receivables. The Group initially 

recognizes loans and receivables on the date that they originated. All other financial assets are 

recognized initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. 

 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset 

in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 

asset are transferred, or neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and 

intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.  

 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly 

attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and 

restricted bank deposits. 

 

(2) Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Non-derivative financial liabilities include bonds, loans and borrowings from banks and others, 

trade and other payables. 

 

The Group initially recognizes financial liabilities on the trade date at which the Group becomes 

a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group derecognizes a financial 

liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 

 

Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 

An exchange of debt instruments having substantially different terms between an existing 

borrower and lender is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and 

the recognition of a new financial liability at fair value. In such cases the entire difference 

between the amortized cost of the original financial liability and the fair value of the new 

financial liability is recognized in profit or loss as financing income or expense. 

 

The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows according 

to the new terms (including any commissions paid, less any commissions received and 

discounted using the original effective interest rate) is different by at least ten percent from the 

discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In 

addition to the aforesaid quantitative criterion, the Group also examines qualitative factors, inter 

alia, whether there have also been changes in various economic parameters inherent in the 

exchanged debt instruments. 
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Note 4 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

E. Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(3) Share capital – ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 

ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 

Incremental costs directly attributable to an expected issuance of an instrument that will be 

classified as an equity instrument are recognized as an asset in deferred expenses in the 

statement of financial position. The costs are deducted from the equity upon the initial 

recognition of the equity instruments, or recognized in profit or loss as finance expense if the 

issuance is no longer expected to take place. 

 

(4) Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments mainly to hedge its interest rate risk exposures 

from variable interest rate bank loans to a fixed interest rate. On initial designation of the 

derivative instruments for hedge accounting the Group formally documents the relationship 

between the hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), including the risk management 

objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction, together with the methods that will 

be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 
 

Cash flow hedges 

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash 

flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized liability, the effective portion 

of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in other comprehensive income and 

presented in the hedging reserve in equity. 

 

The amount recognized in the other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss in the 

same period as the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss under the same line item in the 

statement of profit or loss as the hedged item. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair 

value of the derivative is recognized immediately in profit or loss.  
 

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, 

terminated, exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued 

prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive 

income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity remains there until the forecast 

transaction affects profit or loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then 

the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 

Other derivatives  

When a derivative financial instrument is not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, all 

changes in its fair value are recognized immediately in profit or loss. Other derivatives include 

other financial liabilities and other financial asset. 
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Note 4 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

F. Impairment 

 

Non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than 

investment property, trading property and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any 

indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 

estimated. 

 

Non-derivative financial assets 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is tested for impairment when objective 

evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the 

loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated 

reliably. 

 

The Group considers evidence of impairment for financial assets at both a specific asset and collective 

level. All individually significant financial assets are assessed for impairment. All individually 

significant financial assets found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any 

impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. A financial asset is considered to be impaired 

if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 

future cash flows of that asset. 
 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the 

difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  
 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment loss was recognized (such as repayment by the debtor). For financial assets measured at 

amortized cost the reversal is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

G. Transactions with controlling shareholder 

 

Transactions with shareholders in their capacity as shareholders are considered as capital transactions 

and are recognized directly in equity. Loans received from the controlling shareholder bearing interest 

rate below market rate are considered to be capital transactions with the shareholder. The difference 

between the fair value of the loan and the amount received at initial recognition is recognized directly in 

equity in capital reserve from transactions with controlling shareholder.  
 

When a shareholder forgives a debt while acting in its capacity as a shareholder, the Group considers it 

to be a capital transaction. The outstanding financial liability is reclassified to equity and no gain or loss 

is recognized. 

 

H. Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 

past event, that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that it will require an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits to settle the obligation. 

 

The Group recognizes indemnification as an asset if, and only if, it is virtually certain that the 

indemnification will be received if the Group will settle the obligation. The amount recognized for the 

indemnification does not exceed the amount of the provision. 
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Note 4 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

I. Employee benefits

Share-based payment transactions 

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is 

recognized as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the 

awards. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the 

related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount 

ultimately recognized is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market 

performance conditions at the vesting date.  

For share-based payment awards with market performance vesting conditions, the grant date fair value 

of the share-based payment awards is measured to reflect such conditions, and therefore the Group 

recognizes an expense in respect of the awards whether or not the conditions have been met. 

Share-based payment arrangements in which equity instruments are granted by the parent company to 

the employees of the Group are recognized in the reserve from transactions with controlling 

shareholder. Share-based payment arrangements in which the Company’s equity instruments are granted 

are recognized in the retained earnings. 

J. Revenue recognition

Rental income from operating leases of investment property is recognized in the profit or loss on a 

straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognized as an integral part 

of the total rental income. In respect of utilities services, the Group recognizes the income amount net of 

costs recharged to the tenants. 

Revenue from the sale of trading property is measured at the fair value of the consideration. Revenue is 

recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, 

recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs can be estimated reliably, there is no 

continuing management involvement with the trading property, and the amount of the revenue can be 

measured reliably. 

Other revenues, including management services fee and third party’s asset management income, are 

recognized in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, and are measured at the fair 

value of the consideration received or receivable for services provided in the normal course of business.  

K. Finance income and costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested including changes in the fair value of 

financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and gains on hedging instruments that are 

recognized in profit or loss. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the 

effective interest method. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, changes in the fair value of financial assets or 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognized on financial assets, losses 

from refinance and losses on hedging instruments that are recognized in profit or loss. All borrowing 

costs are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

In the statements of cash flows, interest received is presented as part of cash flows from investing 

activities. Interest paid and dividends paid are presented as part of cash flows from financing activities. 
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Note 4 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

L. Taxation 

 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. 

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable (or receivable) on the taxable income for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current taxes also include taxes in respect of 

prior years and any tax arising from dividends. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 

liability is not recognized for the following taxable temporary differences:  

• The initial recognition of goodwill; 

• The initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 

and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and 

• Differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, to the extent that the Group is able to control 

the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future, either by way of selling the investment or by way of 

distributing dividends in respect of the investment. 

 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which 

the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 

assets and liabilities. For investment property that is measured at fair value, there is a rebuttable 

presumption that the carrying amount of the investment property will be recovered through sale. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 

they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax benefits and deductible temporary 

differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 

they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

Current and deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged 

or credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is 

recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 

 

M. Earnings per share 

 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 

calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by 

adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company and the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, 

which comprise options granted to employees. 
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Note 4 – Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

N. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

 

• IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 replaces the current guidance regarding recognition of revenues and presents a 

comprehensive framework for determining whether revenue should be recognized and when 

and at what amount. 

IFRS 15 is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and earlier 

application is permitted. 

The Group examined the effects of applying IFRS 15, and in its opinion the effect on the 

financial statements will be immaterial. 

 

• IFRS 9 (2014), Financial Instruments  

IFRS 9 (2014) replaces the current guidance in IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement. IFRS 9 (2014) includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement 

of financial instruments, a new ‘expected credit loss’ model for calculating impairment for most 

financial assets (debt or equity instruments), and new guidance and requirements with respect to 

hedge accounting. 

IFRS 9 (2014) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with early 

adoption being permitted. 

The Group examined the effects of applying IFRS 9 (2014), and in its opinion the effect on the 

financial statements will be immaterial. 

 

• IFRS 16, Leases  

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17, Leases and its related interpretations. For lessees, the standard 

presents a unified model for the accounting treatment of all leases according to which the lessee 

has to recognize an asset and liability in respect of the lease in its financial statements. 

IFRS 16 is applicable for annual periods as of January 1, 2019, with the possibility of early 

adoption, so long as the company has also early adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers. 

The Group started to examine the effects of adopting IFRS 16 on the financial statements, and 

in its opinion the effect on the financial statements will be immaterial. 

 

• Amendment to IAS 40, Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property  

The amendment clarifies that an entity shall transfer property into, or out of, investment 

property only when there is evidence of a change in use. Change in use occurs when the 

property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property. The amendment 

clarifies that a change in management’s intentions for the use of a property by itself does not 

constitute evidence of a change in use. The amendment also states that the list of evidence of 

change in use that is included in paragraph 57 of IAS 40 is a non-exhaustive list of examples. 

 

The amendment is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

The Group has examined the effects of applying the amendment to IAS 40, and in its opinion 

the effect on the financial statements will be immaterial. 
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Note 5 – Investment Properties 
 

A. Reconciliation of carrying amount 
   December 31, 

   2017 2016 

   Thousands EUR Thousands EUR 

 

Balance at January 1 2,278,935 1,456,804 

Additions by way of acquiring subsidiaries (see note 3B) 411,539 272,132 

Additions by way of acquiring assets (see note 5A(1)) 169,895 98,285 

Capital expenditure  31,021 25,351 

Disposals  - (1,015) 

Transfer from investment properties to trading properties (see note 5A(2)) (3,730) (16,890) 

Fair value adjustments  383,638 444,268 

Balance at December 31 3,271,298 2,278,935 

 

As of December 31, 2017, the closing balance of investment properties consisted of 20,421 (2016: 

17,701) residential units with a total residential lettable area of 1,343,786 (2016: 1,153,840) sqm, 1,309 

(2016: 999) commercial units (retail, office and other commercial) with a total commercial lettable area 

of 149,748 (2016: 107,816) sqm and 5,464 (2016: 3,839) parking spaces and spaces for storage, 

antennas, etc., all in Berlin. 

 

According to German law, residential rental contracts are unlimited in their duration/period. The tenants 

have the sole right to terminate the contract with 3 months’ notice in writing. According to German law, 

the owner can terminate the residential contract only if the owner has a “justified cause” such as if the 

tenant is in default for more than 2 months’ rent. Termination/cancellation of the contract must be in 

writing. Contracts are denominated in EUR. Tenants are required to make rental deposits generally 

equal to 3 months’ “cold” rent at the inception of any lease contract, and pay in advance rent, facility 

management and utilities and heating prepayments for a 1 month period. The right to increase the rent is 

defined in the contract (e.g. stepped rent) and it is subject to German law. Rent prices are set according 

to the market prices or upon a given price index (“rent mirror”) which exists in Berlin, Germany. 

The rent increase is restricted by the law and can only be increased if several parameters are being met. 

The main two are: the existing rent price is below the rent mirror for the specific area where the 

apartment is located and the rent has remained unchanged for fifteen months and that no rent increase 

over 20% (capping limit) was made in the course of the last three years; the capping limit is 15% in 

areas where the adequate supply of rented dwellings is at risk and these areas are determined by means 

of a legal ordinance, like e.g. in Berlin. 

 

In addition, a rent control law passed by parliament in June 2015 aims to prevent landlords in areas with 

stressed housing markets, e.g. the German capital from raising rents for new tenants by more than 10% 

above the local average (“rent mirror”). Furthermore, the last rent paid can also be used for the new 

contract and therefore the owner can use the higher of the two in practice. In cases of extensive 

modernization works (similar to new build standards) in the unit prior being newly rented out, the 

landlord is exempt from handling under the rent control law and can rent the unit for market price 

without being capped by the legislation. 

Some of the residential buildings include commercial units on the ground floor. Lease renewals are 

negotiated with the lessee. Tenants are required to make rental deposits generally equal to 3 months’ 

rent at the inception of any lease contract. 

 

As at December 31, 2017, approximately 10.6% of the investment properties were subject to rent 

restrictions (“Cost Rent”), and 19% of them were released from restrictions as of January 1, 2018 (based 

on the number of units). 
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Note 5 – Investment Properties (continued) 

A. Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

(1) During the reporting period the Group took over a total of 816 residential units and 145 commercial

units in Berlin as part of asset acquisitions.

(2) During the reporting period the Group reclassified 1 building from investment properties to trading

properties in a total amount of EUR 3,730 thousand, representing its fair value for the

reclassification date.

B. Measurement of fair value

(1) Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investment properties was determined by valuation expert CBRE, an industry

specialist that has appropriate and recognized professional qualifications and up-to-date

experience regarding the location and category of the properties. According to the Group’s fair

value valuation policies for investment properties, investment properties generally undergo a

detailed valuation as at June 30 and December 31 of each year.

The fair value measurement for all of the investment properties has been categorized as a level

3 fair value due to prevailing use of unobservable inputs to the adopted valuation method.

(2) Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

The Group values its portfolio using the discounted cash flow method (DCF). Under the DCF

methodology the expected future income and costs of the property are forecasted over a period

of 10 years and discounted to the date of valuation. The income mainly comprises expected

rental income (current in-place rent, market rents as well as their development) taking vacancy

losses into account.

The following table gives an overview of the main valuation parameters and valuation results:

December 31, 2017 

Central 

S-Bahn

ring

S-Bahn ring

(1960-1990) City ring 

City ring 

(1960-1990) Total 

Fair value ( EUR thousand) 1,249,758 408,910 432,550 240,300 939,780 3,271,298 

Value per sqm (EUR) 2,669 2,355 2,171 2,378 1,699 2,187 

Average residential in-place rent 

(EUR/sqm) 
6.92 6.64 6.85 7.09 5.72 6.42 

CBRE market rent (EUR/sqm) 8.81 8.54 7.52 8.40 6.61 7.71 

Avg. new letting rent (EUR/sqm) 11.18 9.83 9.95 8.58 6.82 9.04 

Multiplier (current rent) 31.18 29.42 26.07 27.33 24.71 27.87 

Multiplier (CBRE market rent) 24.57 22.98 23.25 22.85 20.99 22.95 

Multiplier (new letting rent) 19.36 19.98 17.56 22.36 20.34 19.57 

Discount rate (%) 4.81% 4.97% 4.86% 5.00% 5.20% 4.96% 

Capitalization interest rate (%) 2.86% 3.02% 3.00% 3.02% 3.26% 3.02% 
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Note 5 – Investment Properties (continued) 

B. Measurement of fair value (continued)

December 31, 2016 

Central 

S-Bahn

ring

S-Bahn ring

(1960-1990) City ring 

City ring 

(1960-1990) Total 

Fair value ( EUR thousand) 875,895 266,440 338,980 147,490 650,130 2,278,935 

Value per sqm (EUR) 2,253 2,023 1,810 2,127 1,377 1,824 

Average residential in-place rent 

(EUR/sqm) 

6.52 6.35 6.56 6.72 5.45 6.09 

CBRE market rent (EUR/sqm) 7.80 7.64 6.99 7.76 6.13 6.98 

Avg. new letting rent (EUR/sqm) 11.04 9.65 8.92 7.97 6.35 7.91 

Multiplier (current rent) 27.45 26.04 22.82 24.77 21.20 24.34 

Multiplier (CBRE market rent) 23.12 22.00 20.88 21.84 18.35 21.02 

Multiplier (new letting rent) 16.34 17.43 16.37 21.01 17.73 18.55 

Discount rate (%) 4.48% 4.63% 4.69% 4.77% 5.16% 4.74% 

Capitalization interest rate (%) 3.02% 3.17% 3.29% 3.29% 3.68% 3.28% 

(3) Sensitivity analysis

The main value drivers influenced by the market are the market rents and their movement, rent

increases, the vacancy rate and interest rates. The effect of possible fluctuations in these

parameters is shown separately for each parameter in the following table. Interactions between

the parameters are possible but cannot be quantified owing to the complexity of the

interrelationships:
December 31, 2017 

Change in Change in values 

Valuation parameters parameters thousands EUR % 

Average new letting rent (EUR/sqm) +10% 316,999 9.5% 

Vacancy rate (%) +1% (38,261) (1.2%) 

Discount and Capitalization rate (%) 25bp (261,270) (7.9%) 

December 31, 2016 

Change in Change in values 

Valuation parameters parameters thousands EUR % 

Average new letting rent (EUR/sqm) +10% 245,038 10.5% 

Vacancy rate (%) +1% (27,821) (1.2%) 

Discount and Capitalization rate (%) 25bp (169,770) (7.3%) 

Assuming all other variables remain constant, a negative change in the parameters at the same 

percentage would have a similar impact on the value, although in the opposite direction. 

C. Amounts that were recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

For the year ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 

thousands EUR 

Rental income from investment property 103,300 84,673 61,732 

Direct operating expenses arising from investment 

property that generated rental income during the period (15,551) (11,790) * (7,014) * 

Total 87,749 72,883 54,718 

(*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data – see note 2G regarding basis of preparation 
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Note 6 – Trading Properties 
 

During the reporting period the Group completed the sale of 84 condominium units for a total 

consideration of EUR 19,671 thousand (2016: 109 units for EUR 19,965 thousand). 

 

During the period, the Group acquired two new condominium buildings with 70 residential units and 2 

commercial units in Berlin at a total cost of EUR 12.3 million. See note 3B for more information 

regarding newly acquired trading properties during the period. 

 

During the reporting period, the Group reclassified 1 building from investment properties to trading 

properties for a total amount of EUR 3,730 thousand, representing its fair value for the reclassification 

date (see note 5A(2)). 

 

Note 7 – Restricted Bank Deposits 
 

As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the short-term restricted bank deposits are 

denominated in Euro and they carry no interest. 

 

The balance as at December 31, 2017 includes EUR 21,503 thousand of pledged bank deposits received 

from tenants (December 31, 2016: EUR 16,188 thousand), EUR 2,310 thousand pledged to secure 

banking facilities (December 31, 2016: EUR 10,123 thousand) and EUR 539 thousand of restricted 

proceeds from condominium sales (December 31, 2016: EUR 1,896 thousand). 

 

Note 8 – Trade Receivables 
 

A. The balances represent amounts receivable from leases of residential and commercial units less any 

allowance for doubtful debts. The breakdown of trade receivables is as follows: 

 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 Gross Impairment Total Gross Impairment Total 

 thousands EUR 

 

Not past due 5,138 - 5,138 3,787 - 3,787 

0-30 days past due 1,206 (128) 1,078 1,091 (235) 856 

31-180 days past due 3,718 (908) 2,810 2,649 (899) 1,750 

180 days to one year past due 1,905 (1,211) 694 1,470 (1,298) 172 

More than one year past due 4,672 (4,068) 604 2,627 (2,588) 39 

Total 16,639 (6,315) 10,324 11,624 (5,020) 6,604 

 

Trade accounts receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days’ terms. 

 

B. Impairment losses on trade receivables changed as follows: 
   2017 2016 

   thousands EUR thousands EUR 

 

Balance as at January 1 (5,020) (3,049) 

Additions (2,928) (2,383) 

Additions by way of acquiring subsidiaries (239) (404) 

Reversals 1,204 585 

Write off of irrecoverable debts 668 231 

Balance as at December 31 (6,315) (5,020) 
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Note 9 – Other Receivables 
   December 31, 

   2017 2016 

   thousands EUR thousands EUR 

   

Advance to suppliers 745 159 

Prepaid expenses 260 303 

VAT 638 545 

Others (*) 3,588 370 

Total 5,231 1,377 

 

(*) Others mainly include receivables from the previous owner of entities acquired during 2017 in the 

amount of EUR 3.4 million, due to purchase price adjustments. The outstanding balance was settled 

after the reporting period. 

 

Note 10 – Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and 

demand deposits denominated in Euro and free from any restrictions. 

 

Note 11 – Other Financial Liabilities 
 

In relation to purchase agreements of 94%-94.9% of the shares of German property holding companies, 

the Company entered into an agreement with ADO Group to purchase the remaining 5.1%-6% of the 

shares of the German property holding companies. 

 

As part of the agreement, it was decided that upon the completion of a period of ten years following the 

closing of the transaction, ADO Group shall have the right to sell its interest to the Company for the 

higher of: (i) the fair value of the shares; and (ii) the amount paid by ADO Group to purchase its 

interest, less any dividends distributed to ADO Group by the property companies during the 10-year 

period. 

 

Based on profit transfer agreements ADO Group is entitled to an annual compensation fee in respect of 

its interest in the German property holding companies. 

 

The Company recognized the above put option and compensation fee as a financial liability measured at 

fair value at each reporting date, whereas the changes in the fair value are recognized in equity. In 

respect of the put option and the compensation fee the following balances are included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position: 
December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 thousands EUR thousands EUR 

Current liabilities   

Compensation fee 867 414 
(*)

 

Non-current liabilities   

Compensation fee 772 619 
(*)

 

Put option 26,466 14,104 
(*)

 

Total 28,105 15,137 

 

(*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data – see note 2G regarding basis of preparation 
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Note 12 – Equity 
 

A. Share capital and share premium 
  Ordinary shares 

(in thousands of shares) 

  2017 2016 

 

In issue as at January 1 44,100 35,000 

Issued for cash - 9,100 

In issue as at December 31 44,100 44,100 

 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends and are entitled to one vote per share at 

the General Meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual 

assets. 
 

A dividend in the amount of EUR 19.8 million (EUR 0.45 per share) was paid based on a decision of 

the Annual General Meeting which took place on May 2, 2017. The record date was May 3, 2017. 

 

B. Hedging reserve 

 

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of 

cash flow hedging instruments, net of the related deferred tax. 

 

C. Capital reserve from transactions with controlling shareholder 

 

The capital reserve from transactions with controlling shareholder comprises the differences between 

the fair value and the consideration received/paid in relation to transactions with controlling 

shareholder. The main change in the capital reserve from transactions with controlling shareholder is 

driven by share-based payment to ADO Group’s shares (see note 20) and change in put option of ADO 

Group (see note 11). 

 

Note 13 – Bonds 
 

On July 20, 2017 the Company placed unsecured, fixed-rate corporate bonds with a total nominal 

amount of EUR 400 million with institutional investors. The bonds carry an interest rate of 1.5% 

(effective interest rate of 1.64%) per annum and mature on July 26, 2024. The gross proceeds resulting 

from the transaction amounted to EUR 398.6 million with an issue price of 99.651%. The net proceeds 

of the bond will mainly be used to fund future acquisitions. 

 

The Company undertakes not to incur any financial indebtedness after the issue date of the bond, and 

will also procure that its subsidiaries will not incur any financial indebtedness, after the issue date of the 

bond (except for refinancing existing financial indebtedness), if immediately after giving effect to the 

incurrence of such additional financial indebtedness (taking into account the application of the net 

proceeds of such incurrence), the following tests would not be met: (i) Loan-to-Value Ratio (LTV) ≤ 

60%; (ii) Secured Loan-to-Value Ratio ≤ 45%; (iii) Unencumbered Asset Ratio ≥ 125%; and (iv) 

Interest Coverage Ratio (ICR) ≥ 1.8. 

 

As at December 31, 2017, the Company is fully compliant with all covenant requirements. 
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Note 14 – Other Loans and Borrowings 
 
 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 Non-current Current Non-current Current 

 Thousands EUR 

 

Loans from banks 932,345 72,768 856,662 27,388 

Other creditors 21,610 - 20,664 - 

Total 953,955 72,768 877,326 27,388 

 

A. All the loans were borrowed in order to finance the purchase of the properties in Berlin. 

 

B. All bank loans are non-recourse with the related assets (investment properties and trading 

properties) as their only security which is valued higher than the related loans on an asset basis. 

Other creditors relate to one loan from Harel Insurance Company Ltd to finance its holding in a 

common transaction with the Company. 

 

C. Re-pricing on the variable interest loans is done on a quarterly basis. As at December 31, 2017 

other loans and borrowings carry an average effective interest rate (i.e. considering the swap 

interest hedge deals from variable to fixed) of 1.9% per annum (as at December 31, 2016: 

2.1%). The average maturity of other loans and borrowings is 5 years (as at December 31, 2016: 

5.3 years). 

 
D.  Bank loans in an amount of EUR 125.7 million were taken over as part of the new acquisitions. 

Part of them, in the amount of EUR 25.6 million, was already repaid during the period (see note 

3B(3)). As at December 31, 2017 the remaining bank loans carry an average market effective 

interest rate (i.e. considering the swap interest hedge deals from variable to fixed) of 1.7% per 

annum and their average maturity is 8.24 years. 

 

E. On June 30, 2017 the Group received a bank loan in an amount of EUR 90 million for the 

purpose of refinancing an old bank loan that was taken over as part of an acquisition of the 

issued shares of a Luxembourg entity in 2016. The existing bank loan amounted to EUR 59.8 

million (with a book value of EUR 65.6 million), and carried an annual fixed interest rate of 

3.98% per annum. The new loan carries an annual fixed interest rate of 1.25% per annum for a 

7-year term. The refinance was accounted for as a substantial modification of the terms of debt 

instruments, i.e. treated as an extinguishment of the original loan. Consequently, an amount of 

EUR 4.2 million was recognized as one-off refinance costs in profit or loss. 

 

F. On September 13, 2017, the Group received a bank loan in an amount of EUR 17.5 million and 

on November 7, 2017 an additional amount of EUR 7.8 million to finance existing assets. The 

new loan carries an annual fixed interest rate of 1.49% per annum for a 7-year term. As part of 

the same agreement, an additional amount of EUR 7.7 million is expected to be drawn down 

during the first quarter of 2018. 

 

G. At the end of December 2017, under the existing loan agreements, the Group is fully compliant 

with its obligations including loan covenants to the financing banks. 
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Note 15 – Other Payables 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 thousands EUR thousands EUR 

 

Accrued expenses 2,799 2,755 

Accrued interest payable 3,488 835 

Tenants’ deposits 21,513 16,188 

Parent company (ADO Group) (see note 26) 42 16 

Deferred income 1,896 1,429 

Corporate tax 2,197 930 

VAT 2,171 1,934 

Other 1,370 1,137 

Total 35,476 25,224 

 

Note 16 – Taxes 
 

A. The main tax laws imposed on the Group companies in their countries of residence: 
 

(1) Germany 

 

• The standard rate of corporation tax for both residents and non-residents is 15%. A ‘solidarity 

surcharge’ is also levied resulting in an effective rate of 15.825% which applies to companies which 

hold German property regardless of their residence. Dividends received from another company are 

95% tax exempt when the investment in the other company is at least 10% at the beginning of the 

calendar year or the investment was increased by 10% during the year. 

 

• No tax is withheld on rental payments to non-resident companies holding German property. 

 

• Capital gains on the sale of German property are subject to corporation tax at the standard rate for 

both residents and non-residents. Trade tax is also applicable at the relevant rate, except for non-

residents with no permanent establishment in Germany or limited companies that only hold assets 

for capital investments as long as the sale of the asset is classified as part of that business (detailed 

regulations apply). Capital gains realized by a company on the sale of shares in a property holding 

company are 95% exempt. 

 

• German real estate owned at the start of the calendar year is subject to annual property tax at 0.2% 

to 3.4% (depending on the location of the property, 2.8% for Berlin) on the specially assessed value 

of the property (dependent on the rental value and age of the property). The tax payable is a 

deductible expense for profit tax purposes such as trade tax and corporation tax. 

 

• The transfer of German real estate or a share transaction that unifies at least 95% of the shares of a 

company holding a real estate property is subject to a real estate transfer tax (RETT) which is 

payable by the buyer on the purchase price (on transfer of the property) or a specially assessed value 

as above (on transfer of shares). The tax rate varies between 3.5% and 6.5%, depending on the 

municipality where the property is located. In Berlin the tax rate is 6%. 

 

• Limitation on the tax deductibility of interest expenses, and simultaneous repeal of the existing thin-

capitalization rules. The "interest barrier rule" allows the deduction of net interest expenses 

exceeding EUR 3 million p.a. only to the extent that total net interest expenses do not exceed 30% 

of the EBITDA, unless the total net interest does not exceed EUR 3 million p.a. or other exemption 

criteria are met. The net interest expenses which are not deductible can be carried forward. 
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Note 16 – Taxes (continued) 
 

A. The main tax laws imposed on the Group companies in their countries of residence 

(continued): 
 

(1) Germany (continued) 

 

• Accumulated tax losses can be carried forward without time restriction and can be deducted from 

future profits and capital gains unless they exceed EUR 1 million. Losses carried forward that 

exceed EUR 1 million can only be deducted to the amount of 60% of the profits / capital gains that 

exceed EUR 1 million (minimum taxation). Those parts that cannot be deducted on the basis of the 

minimum taxation can be carried forward again and are subject to minimum taxation in the 

following years. 

 

The corporation tax rate used to calculate deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as at December 

31, 2017 and as at December 31, 2016 is 15.825% for the companies which hold the investment 

properties real estate assets and 30.18% for the management companies that operate the real estate in 

Berlin. 

 

(2) Luxembourg 

 

• The Company is liable for Luxembourg corporation taxes. The aggregate maximum applicable rate, 

including corporate income tax, municipal business tax and a contribution to the employment fund, 

is 27.08% for the fiscal year ending 2017 for a company established in Luxembourg City. 
 

• The Company is fully subject to the annual net wealth tax charge which amounts to 0.5% of the net 

asset value of the Company. Certain assets might be excluded from the net asset value for the 

purposes of the net wealth tax computation, provided that the provisions of paragraph 60 of the 

valuation law of October 16, 1934, as amended (BewG) are met. 
 

A 15% withholding tax will be due in Luxembourg on dividends paid by the Company to its 

shareholders unless the domestic withholding tax exemption regime or a withholding tax reduction or 

exemption under a double tax treaty concluded by Luxembourg applies. Normal interest payments (i.e. 

not profit-linked interest) and liquidation proceeds are generally not subject to withholding tax, unless 

the EU Savings Directive applies. Should any withholding taxes be payable on amounts paid by the 

Company, the Company assumes responsibility for the withholding of Luxembourg taxes at the source. 

 

(3) Ireland 

 

• An Irish tax resident company is subject to corporation tax on its worldwide income (subject to any 

relevant exemptions) at either 12.5% or 25% depending on the activities undertaken by the 

company. Any capital gains recognized by an Irish company (subject to any relevant exemptions) 

will also be subject to corporation tax. However, such gains are re-grossed for corporation tax 

purposes to ensure they are taxed at the capital gains tax rate of 33%. 
 

• Dividends received by an Irish resident company from another Irish resident company are exempt 

from corporation tax. Dividends received from a foreign company in the hands of an Irish resident 

company are subject to corporation tax, however, a credit should be available for underlying 

corporate and withholding tax generally for foreign tax paid. 
 

• In general, with respect to non-resident companies, interest and patent royalties which are derived 

from Ireland are subject to withholding tax in Ireland at the rate of 20%. However, there are a 

number of domestic exemptions from this withholding tax. In addition, there may be exemptions or 

reliefs available under a treaty or under the EU directives. 
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Note 16 – Taxes (continued) 
 

B. Income taxes: 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 

 

Current year (2,026) (1,288) (217) 

Adjustments for prior years (179) (195) (54) 

Deferred tax expense (65,830) (68,223) (27,101) 

Total (68,035) (69,706) (27,372) 

 

C. Reconciliation of statutory to effective tax rate: 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 

 

Statutory income tax rate 27.08% 29.22% 29.22% 

Profit before taxes 435,547 480,474 183,379 

Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 117,946 140,395 53,583 

    

Non-deductible expense 152 155 55 

Utilization of tax losses from prior years for 

   which deferred taxes were not created  (1,413) (3,874) (247) 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (49,033) (65,235) (25,128) 

Deferred tax assets not recognized for tax losses     

   and other timing differences 7,296 2,765 1,704 

Inter-company transaction effect (7,092) (4,686) (2,595) 

Adjustments for prior years 179 195 54 

Other differences, net - (9) (54) 

Income tax expenses 68,035 69,706 27,372 

 

D. Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 

Deferred taxes recognized are attributable to the following: 

 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 thousands EUR thousands EUR 

 

Assets   

Derivatives 216 156 

Tax losses carried forward 13,377 8,755 

 13,593 8,911 

Liabilities   

Investment properties (194,286) (125,273) 

Trading properties (2,750) (1,311) 

 (197,036) (126,584) 

   

Net tax liabilities (183,443) (117,673) 
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Note 16 – Taxes (continued) 
 

D. Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

The following are the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized by the Group, and the movements 

thereon, during the current and prior reporting periods. 
 

Investment 

properties 

 

 

Trading 

properties Derivatives Tax losses Total 

  thousands EUR 

 

Balance at January 1, 2016 (53,637) - 1,142 3,902 (48,593) 

Changes recognized in profit or loss (71,636) (1,311) (129) 4,853 (68,223) 

Changes recognized in equity or      

other comprehensive income - - (857) - (857) 

Balance at December 31, 2016 (125,273) (1,311) 156 8,755 (117,673) 

Changes recognized in profit or loss (69,013) (1,439) - 4,622 (65,830) 

Changes recognized in equity or      

other comprehensive income - - 60 - 60 

Balance at December 31, 2017 (194,286) (2,750) 216 13,377 (183,443) 

 

Losses for tax purposes carried forward to future years, based on the Group’s estimation: 

Tax losses carried forward amounted to EUR 84,793 thousand at December 31, 2017 (2016: EUR 

58,023 thousand). Tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realization of the 

related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognize deferred tax 

assets of EUR 3,158 thousand at December 31, 2017 (2016: EUR 2,448 thousand) in respect of losses 

carried forward amounting to EUR 19,955 thousand at December 31, 2017 (2016: EUR 15,467 

thousand) that can be carried forward against future taxable income due to its expectation for their 

utilization. 

 

The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its 

assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. 

 

Note 17 – Revenue 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 

 

Net rental income 103,300 84,673 61,732 

Selling of condominiums  19,671 19,965 9,954 

Income from facility services 5,881 5,137 4,067 

Total 128,852 109,775 75,753 
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Note 18 – Cost of Operations 
 

 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 

 

Salaries and other expenses (**) 7,995 6,873 5,504 

Cost of utilities recharged, net 1,409 271 312 

Selling of condominiums – cost 15,760 16,726 8,471 

Property operations and maintenance 11,010 8,726 
(*)

 4,899 
(*)

 

Total 36,174 32,596 19,186 

 

(*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data – see note 2G regarding basis of preparation 

(**) See note 19A regarding personal expenses and employees 

 

Note 19 – General and Administrative Expenses 
 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 

 

Salaries and related expenses (A) 2,605 2,472 1,635 

Share-based payment 387 682 283 

Directors fee 714 661 167 

Rent 1,015 1,027 
(*)

 683 
(*)

 

Professional services 3,417 3,081 1,799 

Traveling 188 312 119 

Office, communication and IT expenses 1,284 996 828 

Advertising and marketing 438 404 386 

Impairment loss on trade receivables 1,900 1,799 646 

Depreciation 452 356 256 

Services from parent company (see note 26) 64 75 146 

Others 298 1,380 249 

Total 12,762 13,245 7,197 

 

(*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data – see note 2G regarding basis of preparation 

 

A. As at December 31, 2017 the Group has 295 full-time employees (2016: 247, 2015: 228). On an 

annual average 271 people (2016: 237, 2015: 194) were employed. 

 

Note 20 – Share-based Payment 
 

A. In 2014 ADO Group’s Board of Directors approved a share-based remuneration program to the 

Company’s management which granted a total of 160,000 options, each option being 

exercisable into one of ADO Group’s shares of NIS 1 par value with an exercise price of 0.357 

NIS per share. 

The options were exercised on June 8, 2017. During the reporting period, the Company 

recognized a total expense of EUR 10 thousand (2016: EUR 53 thousand) against reserve from 

transactions with controlling shareholder. 
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Note 20 – Share-based Payment (continued) 
 

B. Under the Long Term Incentive plan (“LTI”), the Company’s management and the vice 

chairman have the possibility to receive together each year shares equaling a total volume of 

EUR 785,000 assuming maximum LTI-Target Achievement divided by the average trading 

price of the Company’s shares. The LTI shall depend on the achievement of certain individual 

targets and the relevant weighting of each of such LTI-Targets in relation to the other applicable 

targets over the service agreement period starting at the commencement of each fiscal year (the 

“LTI-Period”). The LTI-Targets shall be composed of (i) the development of the net asset value 

(“NAV”) per share as being targeted by the Board (weighting of 50%) and (ii) the development 

of the Company’s share price in relation to the EPRA GERMANY index (weighting of 50%), 

both LTI-Targets measured over the duration of the LTI-Period. The fair value was measured at 

the grant date for the first year using the Monte-Carlo simulation considering the following: (i) 

the NAV Target was estimated at 100%; (ii) The expected EPRA Target was estimated at 

approximately 108%. During the reporting period, the company recognized a total expense of 

EUR 554 thousand (2016: EUR 806 thousand) against retained earnings.  

 

Note 21 – Net Finance Costs 
 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 

 

Interest received on bank deposits 3 29 35 

Change in fair value of derivatives - - 400 

Change in fair value of other financial asset 1,599 1,943 1,149 

Total finance income 1,602 1,972 1,584 

    

Interest on bonds (2,824) - - 

Interest on other loans and borrowings (18,279) (18,526) (18,058) 

Interest on loans from related parties (*) - - (5,801) 

One-off refinance costs (6,741) (9,465) - 

Other finance expenses (1,765) (1,709) (1,865) 

Total finance costs (29,609) (29,700) (25,724) 

    

Total net finance costs (28,007) (27,728) (24,140) 

 

 

(*) Interest on loans from related parties includes interest from loans and capital note from ADO Group 

until July 23, 2015. 
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Note 22 – Earnings per Share 
 

A. Basic and diluted earnings per share 

 

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share has been based on the profit attributable to the 

Company’s ordinary shareholders divided by a weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding, calculated as follows: 
 

 (1) Earnings attributable to the owners of the Company 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 

 

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company  355,970 395,150 148,192 

 

 (2) Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

 

 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands of shares 

 

 

 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 in EUR 

 

 

(*) Restated due to stock split committed on June 16, 2015. 

(**) The Company has no material dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 

Note 23 – Financial Instruments 
 

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from its use of financial instruments: 

1. Credit risk 

2. Market risk 

3. Liquidity risk 

 

A. Credit risk: 

The Group is exposed to a default risk resulting from the potential failure of counterparty to 

fulfill its part of the contract. In order to minimize risks, financial transactions are only executed 

with creditworthy third parties. The maximum credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial 

assets as reported in the statement of financial position. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Balance as of January 1 44,100 35,000 25,000 
(*)

 

Effect of issuance of regular shares - 4,083 4,423 

Weighted average number of shares 44,100 39,083 29,423 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (**) 8.07 10.11 5.04 
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Note 23 – Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

B. Market risk: 

The Group is exposed to the risk of changes in market interest rates as a result of floating rate 

debt as well as new and follow-on loans. Loans obtained at variable rates expose the Group to 

cash flow interest rate risk, which could have adverse effects on the Group's profit or loss or 

financial position. Changes in interest rates may cause variations in interest expense on interest-

bearing assets and liabilities. 

 

The Group’s management reviews the need to enter into derivative transactions to manage the 

interest rate risk arising from the Group's operations and its sources of finance. 

 

The following table sets out the carrying amount of the Group's financial instruments that are 

exposed to interest rate risk: 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 thousands EUR thousands EUR 

Fixed rate instruments    

Financial assets 145,882 211,628 

Financial liabilities 1,409,761 858,001 

   

Variable rate instruments   

Financial liabilities 83,460 90,944 

 

On the basis of the valuation as at December 31, 2017, the Group performed a sensitivity 

analysis to determine the change in profit and loss given a parallel shift in the interest rate 

structure: 
   Change in 

interest 

Effect on the 

Profit before tax 

   basis points thousands EUR 

December 31, 2017   

Variable rate instruments +50 (14) 

   

December 31, 2016   

Variable rate instruments +50 (67) 

 

Assuming all other variables remain constant, a negative change in the interest rate at the same 

amount would have similar impact on the profit and loss, although in the opposite direction. 

 

C. Liquidity risk: 

 

In order to limit the liquidity risk, the Group continuously monitors all financing options 

available on the capital and banking markets and uses these options in a targeted manner. 

Moreover, the Group subjects its existing financings to an early review prior to the respective 

final maturity date in order to ensure refinancing. 

 

Under the conditions of existing loan agreements, the Group is obliged to fulfill certain 

financial covenants. If financial covenants are violated and all commonly practiced solutions 

will be unsuccessful, the lenders could call in the loan. As part of risk management, the 

fulfillment of these financial covenants is continually monitored. 

 

The following table shows the forecast for undiscounted cash flows of the non-derivative 

financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments: 
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Note 23 – Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

C. Liquidity risk (continued): 

 

 

(*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data – see note 2G regarding basis of preparation 

 

D. Fair value: 

 

(1) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value for disclosure purposes only 

 

The carrying amounts of certain financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash 

equivalents, trade and other receivables, restricted and other bank deposits and trade and other 

payables are considered to be the same or proximate to their fair value due to their short-term 

nature. The fair values of the other financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying 

amounts shown in the statement of financial position, are as follows:  

 
 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value 

 amount (Level 3) amount (Level 3) 

 thousands EUR 

Liabilities:     

Bonds 396,396 404,056 - - 

Variable rate loans and borrowings (*) 83,460 85,751 90,944 94,228 

Fixed rate loans and borrowings (*) 943,263 944,092 813,770 827,143 

Total 1,423,119 1,433,899 904,714 921,371 

 

(*) Including the current portion of long-term loans and borrowings 

 

Fair value for liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows by the market interest rate on the 

date of measurement. The market interest rates used to determine the fair value are discount rate of 

Euribor+1.2% for the variable interest bank loans (2016: Euribor+1.3%) and discount rate of 1.73% for 

the fixed interest bank loans (2016: 1.3%). 

 December 31, 2017 

 
Carrying 

amount 

Contractual 

cash flows 2018 2019 2020 >2021 

Bonds 396,396 442,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 424,000 

Other loans and borrowings 1,026,723 1,114,407 90,854 46,484 79,020 898,049 

Other financial liabilities 28,105 28,105 867 328 325 26,585 

Trade payables 13,642 13,642 13,642 - - - 

Tenants’ security deposits 21,513 21,513 21,513 - - - 

Other payables 6,842 6,842 6,842 - - - 

Derivatives 2,985 3,242 264 135 230 2,613 

Total 1,496,206 1,629,751 139,982 52,947 85,575 1,351,247 

 December 31, 2016 

 
Carrying 

amount 

Contractual 

cash flows 2017 2018 2019 >2020 

Other loans and borrowings 904,714 990,862 45,729 84,066 42,617 818,450 

Other financial liabilites 15,137 15,137 414 
(*)

 206 
(*)

 205 
(*)

 14,312 
(*)

 

Trade payables 8,957 8,957 8,957 - - - 

Tenants’ security deposits 16,188 16,188 16,188 - - - 

Other payables 3,949 3,949 3,949 - - - 

Derivatives 4,185 4,587 212 389 197 3,789 

Total 953,130 1,039,680 75,449 84,661 43,019 836,551 
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Note 23 – Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

D. Fair value (continued): 

 

(2) Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value 

 

The table below analyzes financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, 

by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized: 

 
 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 Level 2 Level 3 Level 2 Level 3 

 thousands EUR 

 

Other financial asset (a) - 5,359 - 3,760 

Derivative financial liabilities (b) 2,985 - 4,185 - 

Other financial liabilities (c) - 28,105 - 15,137 

 

(a) Other financial asset relates to the Group's option for purchasing the non-controlling interest in 

a transaction completed at the end of 2013. This other financial asset is measured at fair value. 

 

(b) Fair value of derivatives, including both current and non-current liabilities, is measured by 

discounting the future cash flows over the period of the contract and using market interest rates 

appropriate for similar instruments. The credit risk used by the bank is not a material 

component of the valuation made by the bank and the other variables are market-observable. 

 

(c) Other financial liabilities relate to a put option and an annual compensation fee granted to ADO 

Group (see note 11) measured at fair value. The fair value is calculated based on the expected 

payment amounts and the liability is discounted to present value using the market interest rate at 

the reporting date. 

 

Although the Group believes that the estimates of fair value are appropriate, the use of different 

methodologies or assumptions could lead to different measurements of fair value. 
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Note 23 – Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

E. Capital management: 

 

The Company’s management aims to maximize a long-term increase in value for the investors, taking 

into account financial risks by maintaining a degree of financial flexibility in order to be able to pursue 

the Group's growth and portfolio optimization.  

 

The key figure for capital management is Loan-to-Value, which is the ratio of net financial liabilities 

compared to the value of the investment and trading properties. The Company aims to achieve a long-

term Loan-to-Value ratio of maximum 45%. 

 
   December 31, 

   2017 2016 

   thousands EUR thousands EUR 

 

Bonds 396,396 - 

Other loans and borrowings 1,026,723 904,714 

Other financial liabilities 28,105 15,137 

Cash and other deposits (121,530) (183,421) 

Net financial liabilities 1,329,694 736,430 

   

Investment properties and advances in respect of investment properties 3,305,723 2,290,740 

Trading properties and advances in respect of trading properties 42,961 46,137 

Total assets 3,348,684 2,336,877 

   

Loan-to-Value Ratio 39.7% 31.5% 

 

F. Movement in liabilities deriving from financing activities 
 

  

Bonds 

Other loans and 

borrowings 

Other financial 

liabilities 

 

Total 

 thousands EUR 

     

Balance at January 1, 2017 - 904,714 15,137 919,851 

Changes from financing cash flows     

Receipt of loans and borrowings 398,604 114,606 - 513,210 

Repayment of loans and borrowings - (126,548) - (126,548) 

Transaction costs related to borrowings (2,419) - - (2,419) 

Total net financing cash flows 396,185 (11,942) - 384,243 

Changes arising from obtaining control of 

subsidiaries  - 125,709 8,470 134,157 

Changes in fair value - - 4,520 4,520 

Other changes 211 8,242 (23) 8,453 

     

Balance at December 31, 2017 396,396 1,026,723 28,105 1,451,224 
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Note 24 – Contingent Liabilities and Commitments 
 

A. Contingent liabilities 

The Group is involved in few legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. While the 

outcome of all legal actions and their expected timing is currently not determinable, it is management’s 

opinion that these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Group’s consolidated financial 

position or results of its operations, therefore no provision was recorded. 

 

B. Securities, guarantees and liens under bank finance agreements 

In order to secure loans granted for purchasing the assets, the Group has granted banks with regard to 

certain subsidiaries: first ranking liens on all the investment property assets, including rights on the land 

and the projects for which the loans were taken; liens on all of their rights, including by way of 

assignment of rights, pursuant to the agreements to which they are party, including general contractor 

contracts, long-term tenants’ leases and subordination of all shareholder loans to the financing bank; 

liens on all of the rights deriving from each material contract to which the borrower company is a party. 

 

In some cases, payments to the shareholders, including dividend distribution, are subject to financial 

covenants. Several German companies undertook not to sell or transfer a substantial part of their assets 

without the prior consent of the financing bank. In certain events the Project Companies undertook not 

to allow, without the prior consent of the financing bank: (i) any changes in and to the holding structure 

of the Project Companies nor to allow for any change in their incorporation documents; (ii) execution of 

any significant activities, including issuance of shares, and significant transactions not in the ordinary 

course of business; (iii) certain changes to the scope of the project; (iv) the assumption of certain 

liabilities by the Project Company in favor of third parties. 

 

C. Future minimum lease payments 

 

The Group leases out to external parties a number of commercial properties (investment property). The 

lease agreements are usually for 5 years (on average), are non-cancellable and linked to the CPI. 

Renewal of the agreements at the end of the period is subject to the consent of the Group and the 

lessees. The average renewal period of these agreements is ranging from 3 to 5 years. 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 

leases as follows: 

                   
   December 31, 

   2017 2016 

   thousands EUR thousands EUR 

 

Less than one year 28,214 22,672 

Between one and 3 years 22,705 19,039 

More than 3 years 21,295 17,523 
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Note 25 – Segments Reporting 

 
The Company reports by business segments on the basis of the information provided to the Group’s 

chief operating decision maker (CODM). Segment information is not reported by geographical region of 

the properties, as all operational activities are located in Berlin. 

 

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s operating segments: 

 

• Residential property management – the Group’s core business activity is the rent and 

management of the residential properties, which includes the modernization and maintenance of 

the properties, the management of tenancy agreements and marketing of residential units. The 

focus of property management is on the optimization of rental income. 

• Privatization – this segment includes all aspects of the preparation and execution of the sale of 

units. In addition this segment is also subject to modernization, maintenance and management, 

and for non-vacant units generates rental income. 

 

A group-wide planning and controlling system ensures that resources for both segments are efficiently 

allocated and their successful use is monitored. Assets and liabilities are not viewed separately by 

segment. 

 

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as described in note 4 regarding 

significant accounting policies. 

 

Performance is measured based on segment gross profit before revaluation of investment properties. 

Segment results reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment on a reasonable 

basis.  

 

A. Information about reportable segments 

 

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. 

 
 Year ended December 31, 2017 

 Residential   
 property  Total 
 management Privatization consolidated 

 thousands EUR 

 

External income from residential property management 108,303 878 109,181 

External income from selling condominiums - 19,671 19,671 

Consolidated revenue 108,303 20,549 128,852 

Reportable segment gross profit 88,368 4,310 92,678 

General and administrative expenses   (12,762) 

Changes in fair value of investment properties   383,638 

Finance income   1,602 

Finance expense   (29,609) 

Consolidated profit before tax   435,547 

Income tax expense   (68,035) 
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Note 25 – Segments Reporting (continued) 

 
A. Information about reportable segments (continued) 

 
 Year ended December 31, 2016 

 Residential   
 property  Total 
 management Privatization consolidated 

 thousands EUR 

 

External income from residential property management 88,704 1,106 89,810 

External income from selling condominiums - 19,965 19,965 

Consolidated revenue 88,704 21,071 109,775 

Reportable segment gross profit 73,486 3,693 77,179 

General and administrative expenses   (13,245) 

Changes in fair value of investment properties   444,268 

Finance income   1,972 

Finance expense   (29,700) 

Consolidated profit before tax   480,474 

Income tax expense   (69,706) 

 

 
 Year ended December 31, 2015 

 Residential   
 property  Total 
 management Privatization consolidated 

 thousands EUR 

 

External income from residential property management 64,575 1,224 65,799 

External income from selling condominiums - 9,954 9,954 

Consolidated revenue 64,575 11,178 75,753 

Reportable segment gross profit 54,467 2,100 56,567 

General and administrative expenses   (7,197) 

Changes in fair value of investment properties    

and assets held for sale   158,579 

Other expenses   (430) 

Finance income   1,584 

Finance expense   (25,724) 

Consolidated profit before tax   183,379 

Income tax expense   (27,372) 

 

B. Entity level disclosures 

 

The Group has no major customers from which 10% or more of the Group’s revenue derives. 
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Note 26 – Related Parties 
 

A. Related companies: 

 

In these financial statements, ADO Group is considered as a related party. 

 

 (1)  Transactions with related companies: 

 

 The following balances with related parties are included in the consolidated statement of financial 

position: 

 
 December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 thousands EUR 

Current liabilities   

ADO Group (presented under other payables) 42 16 

Other financial liabilities (see note 11) 867 414 
(*)

 

   

Non-current liabilities   

Other financial liabilities (see note 11) 27,238 14,723 
(*)

 

 

(*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data – see note 2G regarding basis of preparation 

 

The following balances with related parties are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss: 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 
 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss    

Services and management fee charges from ADO Group 64 75 146 

Interest on loans from ADO Group (*) - - 891 

Interest on Capital note to ADO Group (*) - - 4,910 

 

(*) Interest on loans from and capital note to ADO Group Ltd. comprises interest until July 23, 2015. 

 

B. Transactions with key management personnel: 

 

Within the Group, the individuals in key positions pursuant to IAS 24 include the Board of Directors of 

ADO Properties S.A. 

 

Compensation and benefits to key management personnel that are employed by the Group: 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 2015 

 thousands EUR 

 

Short-term employee benefits 955 915 526 

Share-based payments 350 376 199 

Total 1,305 1,291 725 

 

The Board of Directors and members of their immediate families do not personally have any business 

relationship with the Group other than in their capacity as members of the Board of Directors. 
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Note 26 – Related Parties (continued) 
 

C. Emoluments granted to the members of the management and supervisory bodies: 

 

The emoluments granted to the members of the supervisory bodies in that capacity for the financial year 

are broken down as follows: 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 thousands EUR 

Directors fee granted to the members of the board of directors 714 661 

Total 714 661 

 

The emoluments granted to the members of the senior management (CEO, CFO and COO) are broken 

down as follows: 

 

 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 thousands EUR 

Fixed salary 662 720 

Short-term cash incentive 343 311 

Long-term incentive to be paid in shares 387 462 

One-time termination payment - 612 

Total 1,392 2,105 

 

Note 27 – Auditors’ Fees 
 

Fees billed to the Company and its subsidiaries by KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative, 

Luxembourg, and other member firms of the KPMG network during the year are as follows (excluding 

VAT): 

 
 For the year ended December 31, 

 2017 2016 

 thousands EUR 

 

Audit fees (*) 690 1,051 

   Thereof: KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative 148 651 

Tax consultancy services 184 87 

   Thereof: KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative 27 26 

Other non-audit related services 49 68 

   Thereof: KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative - - 

 

(*) Including audit-related services in relation to share and bond issuance. 
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Note 28 – Subsequent Events 
 

A. After the reporting date, the Group carried out a transaction to take over 94% of the issued 

shares of a Dutch entity holding a residential building complex located in Berlin, Germany. The 

total consideration amounted to EUR 160.4 million (including approximately 2% transaction 

costs). The building includes 832 residential units and 24 commercial units with a total leasable 

area of approximately 66 thousand sqm. At the date of acquisition, the total annual net cold rent 

from the new acquisition amounted to EUR 5.6 million. 

 

B. In addition to the above transaction, after the reporting date, the Group acquired 22 assets in 12 

different deals, some of them initially assessed as asset deals, and others as share deals, 

comprising a total of 581 residential units and 26 commercial units in Berlin. The gross 

purchase price for 100% of the acquired assets amounted to EUR 91.9 million. At the date of 

acquisition, the total annual net cold rent from the new acquisitions amounted to EUR 2.9 

million. As at December 31, 2017, the Group paid an advance of EUR 34 million that was 

recorded as advances in respect of investment properties. 

 

C. On March 9, 2018 the Group signed a EUR 175 million revolving credit facility with a 2 year 

term and two extension options, each for 1 year.  

 

D. As of the reporting date the Group is in the final steps to set-up a commercial paper program 

with a maximum volume of EUR 500 million under which funds with a maximum term of 364 

days can be raised at short notice. 

 

E. On March 19, 2018 the Company’s Board proposed to the Annual General Meeting to pay a 

dividend in the amount of EUR 26.5 million (EUR 0.60 per share). The Annual General 

Meeting will take place on June 19, 2018. 
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Note 29 – List of the Company Shareholdings 

 Company Country 

Shareholding and control at 

December 31, 

2017 2016 

% 

1 Adest Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

2 Adoa Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

3 Adom Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

4 Adon Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

5 Ahava Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

6 Anafa 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

7 Anafa 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

8 Gamazi Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

9 Anafa Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

10 Badolina Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

11 Berale Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

12 Bamba Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

13 Zman Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

14 ADO Immobilien Management GmbH Germany 100 100 

15 CCM City Construction Management GmbH Germany 100 100 

16 Drontheimer Str. 4 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

17 Eldalote Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

18 Nuni Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

19 Krembo Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

20 Tussik Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

21 Geut Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

22 Gozal Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

23 Gamad Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

24 Geshem Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

25 Lavlav 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

26 Lavlav 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

27 Lavlav 3 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

28 Lavlav Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

29 Mastik Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

30 Maya Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

31 Mezi Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

32 Muse Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 
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Note 29 – List of the Company Shareholdings (continued) 

 Company Country 

Shareholding and control at 

December 31, 

2017 2016 

% 

33 Papun Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

34 Nehederet Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

35 Neshama Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

36 Osher Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

37 Pola Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

38 ADO Properties GmbH Germany 100 100 

39 Reshet Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

40 Sababa18 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

41 Sababa19 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

42 Sababa20 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

43 Sababa21 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

44 Sababa22 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

45 Sababa23 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

46 Sababa24 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

47 Sababa25 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

48 Sababa26 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

49 Sababa27 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

50 Sababa28 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

51 Sababa29 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

52 Sababa30 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

53 Sababa31 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

54 Sababa32 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

55 Shemesh Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

56 Stav Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

57 Tamuril Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

58 Tara Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

59 Tehila1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

60 Tehila2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

61 Tehila Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

62 Trusk Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

63 Wernerwerkdamm 25 Berlin Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

64 Yarok Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

65 Yahel Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

66 Yussifun Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

67 Bombila Grundstücks GmbH Germany 99.64 99.64 

68 ADO SBI Holdings S.A. & Co. KG Germany 94 94 

69 Central Facility Management GmbH Germany 100 100 

70 Sheket Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

71 Seret Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

72 Melet Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

73 Yabeshet Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 
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Note 29 – List of the Company Shareholdings (continued) 

 Company Country 

Shareholding and control at 

December 31, 

2017 2016 

% 

74 ADO Finance B.V. Holland 100 100 

75 Yadit Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

76 Zamir Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

77 Arafel Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

78 Sharav Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

79 Sipur Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

80 Matok Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

81 Barbur Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.9 94.9 

82 Parpar Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

83 Jessica Properties B.V. Holland 94.50 94.50 

84 Alexandra Properties B.V. Holland 94.44 94.44 

85 Marbien B.V. Holland 94.90 94.90 

86 Meghan Properties B.V. Holland 94.44 94.44 

87 Matok Löwenberger Straße Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

88 Songbird 1 ApS Denmark 60 60 

89 Songbird 2 ApS Denmark 60 60 

90 Joysun 1 B.V. Holland 60 60 

91 Joysun 2 B.V. Holland 60 60 

92 Yona Investment GmbH & Co. KG Germany 60 60 

93 Yanshuf Investment GmbH & Co. KG Germany 60 60 

94 Ziporim Investment GmbH Germany 60 60 

95 Ofek 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

96 Ofek 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

97 Ofek 3 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

98 Ofek 4 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

99 Ofek 5 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

100 Galim 1 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

101 Galim 2 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

102 Galim 3 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

103 JS Nestorstrasse Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

104 JS Florapromenade Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

105 JS Cotheniusstrasse Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

106 JS Tauroggener Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

107 JS Kiehlufer Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

108 JS Rubenstrasse Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

109 Yona Stettiner Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

110 Yona Schul Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

111 Yona Otawi Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

112 Yona Strom Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

113 Yona Gutenberg Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

114 Yona Kameruner Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

115 Yona Schichauweg Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

116 Yona Alt-Tempelhof Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

117 Yona Gruberzeile Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 
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Note 29 – List of the Company Shareholdings (continued) 

 Company Country 

Shareholding and control at 

December 31, 

2017 2016 

% 

118 Yona Schloss Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

119 Yona Lindauer Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

120 Yona Nogat Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

121 Yona Bötzow Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

122 Yona Herbst Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

123 Yona Danziger Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

124 Yona Schön Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

125 Yanshuf Kaiser Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

126 Yanshuf Binz Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

127 Yanshuf Antonien Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

128 Yanshuf See Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

129 Yanshuf Hermann Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

130 Yanshuf Schmidt-Ott Grundstücks GmbH Germany 60 60 

131 Hanpaka Holding GmbH Germany 100 100 

132 Hanpaka Immobilien GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

133 Dvash 1 Holding GmbH Germany 100 100 

134 Dvash 2 Holding GmbH Germany 100 100 

135 Dvash 3 B.V. Holland 100 100 

136 Rimon Holding GmbH Germany 100 100 

137 Bosem Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 100 

138 Rimon Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

139 Dvash 21 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

140 Dvash 22 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

141 Dvash 23 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

142 Dvash 24 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

143 Dvash 11 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

144 Dvash 12 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

145 Dvash 13 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

146 Dvash 14 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

147 ADO FC Management Unlimited Company Ireland 100 100 

148 5. Ostdeutschland Invest GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

149 8. Ostdeutschland Invest GmbH Germany 94.90 94.90 

150 Horef Holding GmbH Germany 100 100 

151 ADO 9110 Holding GmbH Germany 100 100 

152 Silan Holding GmbH Germany 100 100 

153 ADO Sonnensiedlung S.à.r.l. Luxembourg 94.90 94.90 

154 Horef Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.93 94.93 

155 Sprengelstraße 39 GmbH Germany 94 - 

156 Scharnweberstraße 112 Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH Germany 94.90 - 

157 Kantstraße 62 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 100 - 

158 ADO Treasury GmbH Germany 100 - 

159 ADO 9160 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

160 ADO 9200 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 
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Note 29 – List of the Company Shareholdings (continued) 

 Company Country 

Shareholding and control at 

December 31, 

2017 2016 

% 

161 ADO 9210 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

162 ADO 9220 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

163 ADO 9230 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

164 ADO 9240 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

165 ADO 9250 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.00 - 

166 ADO 9260 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

167 ADO 9270 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.80 - 

168 ADO 9280 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

169 ADO 9290 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

170 ADO 9300 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

171 ADO 9310 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

172 ADO 9320 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

173 ADO 9330 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

174 ADO 9340 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

175 ADO 9350 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

176 ADO 9360 Holding GmbH Germany 100 - 

177 ADO 9370 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

178 ADO 9380 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

179 ADO 9379 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

180 ADO 9400 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

181 ADO 9410 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

182 ADO 9420 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

183 ADO 9430 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

184 ADO 9440 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

185 ADO 9450 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

186 ADO 9460 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

187 ADO 9470 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

188 ADO 9480 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

189 ADO 9490 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

190 ADO 9500 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

191 ADO 9510 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

192 ADO 9520 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

193 ADO 9530 Grundstücks GmbH Germany 94.90 - 

194 ADO 9540 Holding GmbH Germany 100 - 

195 ADO Lux Finance S.à.r.l. Luxembourg 100 - 
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FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP

FUNDAMEN­
TALS OF THE 
GROUP
BUSINESS MODEL 

ADO is 100% focused on Berlin and the only listed 

pure play Berlin residential real estate company. 

All our 21,970 units (20,649 residential units) are 

within the city borders of Berlin. We are a residen-

tial real estate specialist with a fully integrated 

asset management platform. Our 295 operational 

employees are all based in Berlin bringing us clos-

er to our assets and tenants. This ensures that we 

are at the heart of new market trends and devel-

opments. Our operational focus in combination 

with our long-standing local sourcing capabilities 

provide the base from which to drive FFO and NAV 

per share by further developing our existing port-

folio and through accretive add-on acquisitions. 

We look for value and rental growth in attractive 

areas offering good prospects. Central Locations 

form the largest part of our portfolio, approx. 40%, 

as these were the first areas to experience in-

creased demand. Today, we see demand growing 

in the whole of Berlin and we continue to grow in 

all attractive micro-locations. An important feature 

of our growth strategy is to retain the balance be-

tween the outskirts and Central Locations.

In more than a decade of local presence, we have 

established a proven track record of value creation. 

Our management team, with their in-depth knowl-

edge of the Berlin market, and our efficient, fully 

integrated and scalable platform are the founda-

tion for future value creation.

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY

Our strategy is focused on sustainable and 

continuous growth to be the leading pure-play 

Berlin residential real estate company with 

potential to generate above-average value

Using our local market knowledge of Berlin, we 

focus on the modernization, refurbishment and re-

positioning of our portfolio assets, while constantly 

screening and anticipating developments in differ-

ent Berlin sub-markets and districts. This focus al-

lows us to capture additional growth potential and 

create positive returns on our portfolio acquisitions.

21,970
units

295
operational  
employees
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FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP

We focus on increasing rents through active 

asset management and targeted investments to 

modernize, refurbish and reposition our properties 

Our strategy to realize upside potential consists of 

the following approaches: We pursue regular rent 

increases up to the market levels within the reg-

ulatory and legal limits as well as through tenant 

fluctuation without CAPEX investment. In addition, 

we continuously review rent potentials and pursue 

growth beyond the rent table through targeted 

CAPEX investments to modernize, refurbish and/

or reposition our properties allowing for higher 

rent levels. Lastly, we reduce portfolio vacancy 

by active marketing with an approach tailored to 

the respective micro-location. Our strategy allows 

and also leads us to choose high quality tenants, 

which continuously improves our tenant structure 

by maintaining our portfolio assets at the market 

standard suitable for the current demand.

Our scalable platform is capable of (i) implement-

ing accretive growth through acquisitions based 

on significant sourcing capabilities and (ii) exploit-

ing economies of scale derived from our pure-play 

Berlin portfolio and our existing management 

operations

Our current platform allows us to add additional 

units at marginal incremental costs. We intend to 

focus on further expanding our pure-play Berlin 

portfolio where our management's in-depth un-

derstanding of the local market provides us with 

attractive acquisition and repositioning opportu-

nities. Before purchasing assets, we measure any 

potential acquisition for short to medium-term 

accretion potential, potential for increasing rents, 

as well as potential for condominium conversion 

or privatization. We believe that the market has 

sufficient acquisition opportunities to support our 

business plans in the foreseeable future.

We are committed to tenant satisfaction through 

our business approach

We place our tenants at the center of our opera-

tions. We demonstrate high responsiveness to our 

tenants' needs and actively manage communica-

tions with our tenants through in-house and ex-

ternal call lines. Furthermore, ongoing investments 

ensure we maintain our properties at the market 

standard suitable for the current demand. Our busi-

ness approach leads to better tenant satisfaction as 

shown by our sustainable high rent collection rate.

Our sustainable financing strategy targets a con-

servative LTV ratio of maximum 45% with a solid 

investment grade rating of Baa2 by Moody's and 

flexible access to a variety of funding sources

As we see interest rates increasing over time, we 

have adopted a conservative financing strategy with 

a LTV of maximum 45%. We have a solid investment 

grade rating of Baa2 by Moody's, which allows us to 

access the debt capital markets at attractive terms 

and ensures flexible access to various instruments 

besides secured mortgage financing. As at the re-

porting date, our LTV was 39.6%.
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We provide stable dividends with a targeted 

payout ratio of up to 50% of FFO 1 

Our portfolio and operational excellence com-

bined with our sustainable financing strategy 

allows us to distribute stable dividends with a 

targeted payout ratio of up to 50% of FFO 1. The 

Board of Directors has recommended paying a 

total dividend of EUR 26.5 million or EUR 0.60 

per share for the year 2017 subject to the ap-

proval of the Annual General Meeting on June 19, 

2018, reflecting an increase of more than 33% 

per share compared with 2016.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

FOCUS – Our EUR 3.3 billion portfolio is located 

solely in Berlin

Our portfolio of 20,649 residential units and 1,321 

commercial units is 100% located in Berlin with a 

mix of highly attractive individual buildings in Cen-

tral Locations and larger settlements offering more 

affordable housing. The Berlin residential market 

continuously benefits from a combination of posi-

tive net migration, an increase in the quality of the 

work force, a decreasing average household size 

and a limited supply of new rental stock, resulting 

in continued rental growth, which we expect to 

positively impact our business. 

KNOWLEDGE – We benefit from in-depth 

knowledge of the Berlin market from a decade 

of local presence as well as a local network with 

excellent access to information 

We benefit from in-depth knowledge of the Berlin 

market, especially of the Berlin micro-locations, 

from a decade of local presence. We have a local 

network with excellent access to information 

where we have developed a strong reputation as 

a reliable business partner and asset manager in 

Berlin. Our extensive market insights also enable 

us to identify privatization opportunities while al-

lowing us to build our existing pipeline of assets.

EFFICIENCY – We benefit from an organically 

grown, efficient, fully integrated, scalable and 

in-house platform for portfolio management and 

privatizations, which is led by an experienced 

management team 

Our platform, combined with our in-depth knowl-

edge of the Berlin market and a decade of local 

presence, makes us well suited to identify portfolio 

assets that can be improved through targeted cap-

ital expenditures. Our management team is experi-

enced in in-house asset management, property and 

facility management and construction management. 

Furthermore, we have qualified teams of real estate 

professionals in all areas of our business operations 

that have been built without legacy constraints, 

which allow us to be flexible in adapting to market 

conditions to sustain further portfolio growth. The 

concentration of our portfolio in the Berlin market 

further increases our platform efficiency and allows 

us to work with a lean and specialized operation-

al setup. Our approach has led to a competitive 

EBITDA margin of almost 75% and a track record of 

decreasing vacancy in our portfolio.

INVESTMENT APPROACH – We had 4.8% like-for-

like rental growth in 2017 generated by a targeted 

investment approach with significant further rent-

al growth potential 

Our management has instituted a clear investment 

strategy to drive rental growth. Our repositioning 

and refurbishing of assets through targeted capital 

expenditures has led to increased rents, result-

ing in higher returns, and ultimately to our annual 

FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP
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like-for-like rental growth of 4.8% in 2017. We also 

see significant further rent potential for our assets 

when looking at current in-place rents vs. actual 

market rents.

SOLID BALANCE SHEET – Our balance sheet has 

a conservative LTV ratio and long-term maturity 

profile at low funding cost

Throughout our history, we have based our conser-

vative financing strategy on the financing of assets 

through mortgages and have built strong relation-

ships with a range of key lenders in Germany. This 

financing source has been accessible at attractive 

terms through the whole cycle seen over the last 

decade. 

During the year under review, we received a solid 

investment grade rating of Baa2 by Moody's and 

placed unsecured, fixed-rate corporate bonds 

with a total nominal amount of EUR 400 million 

with institutional investors. The bonds carry an 

interest rate of 1.5% per annum and mature on 

July 26, 2024. 

We maintain a conservative balance sheet with, 

as at December 31, 2017, a LTV ratio of 39.6%, 

1.8% cost of debt and long-term financing with a 

weighted average maturity of 5.4 years.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We calculate our NAV and NNNAV based on the 

best practice recommendations of EPRA (European 

Public Real Estate Association). EPRA NAV rep-

resents the fair value of net assets on an ongoing, 

long-term basis. Assets and liabilities that are not 

expected to crystallize in normal circumstances, 

such as the fair value of financial derivatives and 

deferred taxes on property valuation surpluses, are 

therefore excluded. Similarly, trading properties 

are adjusted to their fair value under the EPRA NAV 

measure.

EPRA NAV makes adjustments to IFRS NAV to pro-

vide stakeholders with the most relevant informa-

tion on the fair value of the assets and liabilities 

within a true real estate investment company with 

a long-term investment strategy.

CALCULATION OF EPRA NAV

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company

(+)	 Revaluation of trading properties 1) 

(−)	 Fair value of derivative financial  

instruments 2) 

(−)	 Deferred taxes

= EPRA NAV

1) Difference between trading properties carried in the balance sheet at cost 

(IAS 2) and the fair value of those trading properties.

2) Net of derivative assets and liabilities stated in the balance sheet.

FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP
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EPRA NNNAV is derived by adjusting the EPRA NAV 

to include the fair values of financial instruments, 

debt and deferred taxes.

The objective of the EPRA NNNAV measure is to 

present net asset value including fair value ad-

justments in respect of all material balance sheet 

items that are not reported at their fair value as 

part of the EPRA NAV.

CALCULATION OF EPRA NNNAV

EPRA NAV

(+)	 Fair value of derivative financial instruments 2)

(+)	 Fair value of debt 3)

(+)	 Deferred taxes

= EPRA NNNAV

3) Difference between interest-bearing debts included in the balance sheet 

at amortized cost, and the fair value of interest-bearing debts.

Starting from the revenues in relation to our rental 

activities, we calculate NOI (Net Operating Income) 

and EBITDA from rental activities. 

NOI equals all revenue from the property portfolio 

minus all reasonably necessary operating expens-

es. Aside from rent, a property might also generate 

revenue from parking and service fees. NOI is used 

to track the income generation capability of the 

real estate portfolio.

EBITDA from rental activities is an indicator of a 

company's financial performance which can be 

calculated by deducting the overhead costs from 

NOI. It is used as a proxy to assess the recurring 

earning potential of the letting business.

EBITDA total can be derived by adding the net 

profit from privatizations to the EBITDA from rental 

activities. It is used to assess the recurring earning 

potential of the business as a whole.

CALCULATION OF EBITDA  

FROM RENTAL ACTIVITIES

Net rental income

(+)	 Income from facility services

= Income from rental activities

(−)	 Cost of rental activities 4)

= Net operating income (NOI)

(−)	 Overhead costs 5)	

= EBITDA from rental activities

(+)	 Net profit from privatizations 6)

= EBITDA total

(−)	 Net cash interest 7)

(+ / −)	 Other net financial costs 8)

(−)	 Depreciation and amortization

= EBT

4) Cost of rental activities is the aggregative amount of (a) Salaries and other 

expenses; (b) Cost of utilities recharged, net; and (c) Property operations and 

maintenance, as presented in the "Cost of operations" note to the financial 

statements.

5) Overhead costs represent the "General and administrative expenses" from 

the profit or loss statement excluding one-off costs and depreciation and 

amortization.

6) Net profit from privatizations is equal to the revenue from "Selling of 

condominiums" minus "Selling of condominiums – cost" as presented in 

the "Revenue" and "Cost of operations" notes to the financial statements, 

respectively.

7) Net cash interest is equal to "Interest on bonds" plus "Interest on other 

loans and borrowings" as presented in the "Net finance costs" note to the 

financial statements, excluding day-1 fair value non-cash adjustment.

8) Other net financial costs is equal to the total "Net finance costs" from the 

profit or loss statement minus "Net cash interest" as calculated in note (7) above.

FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP



C
om

bined M
anagem

ent R
eport

C
H

A
P

T
E

R

02

ADO Annual Report 2017 63

FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP

In addition we present NOI from rental activities 

margin – calculated as "NOI" (see above) divided 

by "Net rental income", and EBITDA from rental 

activities margin calculated as "EBITDA from 

rental activities" (see above) divided by "Net rental 

income". These metrics are useful to analyze the 

operational efficiency at real estate portfolio as 

well as at Company level.

Starting from EBITDA from rental activities, we 

calculate the main performance figure in the 

sector, the FFO 1 (from rental activities). This KPI 

serves as an indicator of the sustained operational 

earnings power after cash interest expenses and 

current income taxes of our letting business.

CALCULATION OF FFO 1  

(FROM RENTAL ACTIVITIES)

EBITDA from rental activities

(−)	 Net cash interest 7)

(−)	 Current income taxes 9)

= FFO 1 (from rental activities)

9) Only current income taxes relating to rental activities.

Continuing from the FFO 1 (from rental activities), 

we derive the AFFO (from rental activities) which 

takes into account the impact of capitalized main-

tenance. AFFO (from rental activities) is used as 

an indicator of the sustained operational earnings 

power of our letting activities after cash interest 

expenses, current income taxes and recurring in-

vestment requirements in our real estate portfolio.

CALCULATION OF AFFO  

(FROM RENTAL ACTIVITIES)

FFO 1 (from rental activities)

(−)	 Maintenance capital expenditures 10)

= AFFO (from rental activities)

10) Maintenance capital expenditures relate to public areas investments, 

and form part of the total capitalized CAPEX presented in the "Investment 

properties" note to the financial statements.

FFO 2 (incl. disposal results) is calculated by add-

ing the net effect of our privatization activities to 

our FFO 1 (from rental activities). By adding the net 

effect of disposals, it is used as an indicator of the 

total sustained operational earnings power.

CALCULATION OF FFO 2  

(INCL. DISPOSAL RESULTS)

FFO 1 (from rental activities)

(+)	 Net profit from privatizations 6)

= FFO 2 (incl. disposal results)

The loan-to-value ratio (LTV ratio) indicates the 

degree to which the net financial liabilities, calcu-

lated as nominal amount of the interest-bearing 

debts less cash and cash equivalents, are covered 

by the fair market value of the real estate portfo-

lio. This indicator helps us to ensure a sustainable 

ratio of borrowings compared to the fair value of 

our real estate portfolio.
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CALCULATION OF LTV

Bonds, other loans and borrowings 

and other financial liabilities

(–)	 Cash, cash equivalents

= Net financial liabilities

(/)	 Fair value of properties 11)

= loan-to-value ratio (LTV)

11) Including investment properties and trading properties at their fair value 

and advances paid in respect of investment properties and trading proper-

ties as at the reporting date.

We believe that the alternative performance mea-

sures described in this section constitute the most 

important indicators for measuring the operating 

and financial performance of the Group's business.

We expect all of the above described alternative 

performance measures to be of use for our in-

vestors in evaluating the Group's operating per-

formance, the net value of the Group's property 

portfolio, the level of the Group's indebtedness and 

of cash flow generated by the Group's business.

Due to rounding, the figures reported in tables 

and cross-references may deviate from their exact 

values as calculated.

NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE  
INDICATORS

In addition to our financial performance indicators, 

we also use the following non-financial operating 

performance indicators.

The vacancy rate shows the ratio of m2 of vacant 

units in our properties to total m2. We calculate 

the vacancy rate separately for residential and 

commercial units. They are used as an indicator of 

the current letting performance. 

The in-place rent per m2 provides an insight into 

the average rental income from the rented proper-

ties. It serves as an indicator of the current letting 

performance.

The like-for-like rental growth is the change rate 

of the gross rents generated by the like-for-like 

residential portfolio over the last 12 months.

All of the previous non-financial performance 

indicators are key drivers for the development of 

rental income.

The total amount spent on maintenance, capital-

ized maintenance and modernization CAPEX in re-

lation to the total lettable area of our portfolio is a 

further operational figure to ensure an appropriate 

level of investment in our real estate portfolio.

FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP
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1,321
commercial units

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

We continue to implement our clear growth strat-

egy by acquiring further new units and by tar-

geted CAPEX investments to drive rental growth. 

On the portfolio side, the Company has achieved 

substantial growth in 2017. During the year under 

review, we completed the acquisition of 2,948 

residential units and 322 commercial units for a 

total volume of approx. EUR 600 million. 

As a result of these acquisitions, our portfolio grew 

to 21,970 units.

The good operational performance of our existing 

portfolio is well on track concerning new rentals 

as well as the execution of our CAPEX program. 

The like-for-like rental growth of 4.8% in 2017 

resulted in an average rent per m2 of EUR 6.42 

on the back of our CAPEX program. Our vacancy 

rate increased slightly to 3.6% due to the sales 

and modernization activities.

In Q4 2017 we took over a total of 1,596 residential 

units and 150 commercial units. The integrated 

units are located all over the city and were ac-

quired for a total cost of approx. EUR 300 million 

with an average price per m2 of EUR 2,162 and an 

average multiplier of 28.6 times. The average exist-

ing rent per m2 of the new purchases is EUR 6.15 

with approx. 42% reversionary potential.

EUR 

6.42
avg. residential in-place 
rent per m2

EUR 

109m
income from rental activities

EUR 

1,989m
EPRA NAV

 

4.8%
like-for-like rental growth

 

39.6%
LTV

 

74.6%
EBITDA margin

 EUR

54m
FFO 1

 

20,649
residential units

FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP
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PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

100% of our portfolio is within the city borders of 

Berlin. Our past and future acquisition strategy for 

building our portfolio not only considers the vari-

ous districts in Berlin, but also the micro-locations 

and the quality of the individual assets. We con-

tinue to see opportunities in inner-city locations, 

but also in the outskirts within the city boundaries 

of Berlin. Approx. 40% of the property value of our 

portfolio is in Central Locations of Berlin.

We see significant reversionary potential in our 

portfolio as our current average new letting rent 

per m2 is between 19%-62% higher than our cur-

rent overall average rent.

FUNDAMENTALS OF THE GROUP

	 Headquarters

	 Central

	 S-Bahn Ring

	 City Ring

	 S-Bahn Ring (1960-1990)

	 City Ring (1960-1990)
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PORTFOLIO VALUATION

The portfolio was independently valued by CBRE. 

The total portfolio value of 3.3 billion as at Decem-

ber 31, 2017 includes the full property portfolio, 

both trading and investment properties. The posi-

tive development of the Berlin residential real es-

tate market is an important driver for the increase 

in the value of our properties. In addition to market 

trends, our operational performance and dedicated 

investment strategy support our value growth.

It should be noted that our residential new letting 

rents are on average more than 17% higher than 

CBRE's market rent assumptions – a strong indica-

tor for future value growth.

PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW (*)       

 

Central
S-Bahn 
Ring

S-Bahn 
Ring  
(1960-
1990)

City  
Ring

City  
Ring  
(1960-
1990) Total

Fair value (EUR m) 1,296 412 433 240 940 3,321

Fair value (EUR/m2) 2,684 2,360 2,171 2,378 1,699 2,198

Share of fair value (%) 39% 12% 13% 7% 28% 100%

Number of residential units 6,417 2,142 3,195 1,276 7,619 20,649

Avg. in-place rent (EUR/m2) 6.92 6.64 6.85 7.09 5.72 6.42

CBRE market rent (EUR/m2) 8.81 8.54 7.52 8.40 6.61 7.71 

Avg. new letting rent (EUR/m2) (**) 11.18 9.83 9.95 8.58 6.82 9.04 

Reversionary potential 62% 48% 45% 21% 19% 41%

Multiplier (current rent) 31.54 29.58 26.07 27.33 24.71 28.04 

Multiplier (CBRE market rent) 24.71 23.02 23.25 22.85 20.99 23.02 

Multiplier (new letting rent) 19.47 20.01 17.56 22.36 20.34 19.63 

Discount rate (%) 4.79% 4.96% 4.86% 5.00% 5.20% 4.95%

Capitalization interest rate (%) 2.84% 3.02% 3.00% 3.02% 3.26% 3.01%

Tenant turnover (%) (***) 9.3% 7.9% 7.6% 8.4% 6.5% 8.0%

(*) All values except the fair value are for the residential portfolio only. 

(**) Based on last three months. 

(***) Last 12 months (LTM).

EUR 

3.3 bn
portfolio value
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RESIDENTIAL PORTFOLIO

  Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

Number of units 20,649 17,701

Average rent / m2 / month EUR 6.42 EUR 6.11

Vacancy 3.6% 2.5%

The average rent per m2 increased by EUR 0.31 per m2 from the beginning of the year, while the vacancy 

rate increased slightly by 1.1% to 3.6% due to our sales and modernization activities.

COMMERCIAL PORTFOLIO

  Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

Number of units 1,321 999

Average rent / m2 / month EUR 8.94 EUR 8.60

Vacancy 4.9% 3.2%

The commercial part of our portfolio also confirms Berlin's positive development. It shows higher rents 

compared to the residential properties, having now grown to EUR 8.94 per m2 which represents an 

increase of EUR 0.34 per m2 from the beginning of the year. The vacancy rate of the commercial units 

increased slightly to 4.9%. 

In pursuit of our strategy on creating value through strong like-for-like rental growth, we split our rental 

growth into three components as shown in the table below to provide detailed information about how 

we can create rental growth.

RENTAL GROWTH

In %
Jan 1 - Dec 31, 
2017

Jan 1 - Dec 31, 
2016

New lettings after CAPEX 2.7% 2.7%

New lettings fluctuation (0.5%) 1.6%

Regular rent increases 2.6% 1.7%

Total 4.8% 6.0%

PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE
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Our fully integrated active asset management is focused on our rental growth and employs dedicated 

strategies to drive all relevant components. The first two components (CAPEX and fluctuation) relate to 

new tenants. In units that require modernization, we invest CAPEX to improve quality to meet today's 

standards. Units that do not require CAPEX are being let at market rent levels. Concerning our let units, 

applying the relevant regulatory framework accurately and efficiently is key to our success in maximiz-

ing rental growth. The like-for-like rental growth continued with 4.8%, or 5.3% excluding vacancy effect, 

despite strong portfolio growth.

 

MAINTENANCE AND CAPEX

In EUR per m2
Jan 1 - 
Dec 31, 2017

Jan 1 -
Dec 31, 2016

Maintenance 6.5 6.8

Capitalized maintenance 6.3 6.6

Energetic modernization 1.7 0.8

Modernization CAPEX 14.6 13.8

Total 29.1 28.1

Targeted investments in our portfolio are at the core of our strategy. Total investment in the portfolio 

amounted to EUR 39 million. The maintenance cost per m2 of EUR 29.1 in 2017 was in line with our ex-

pectations for our long-term average levels.

VACANCY SPLIT

Our active asset management aims to minimize our vacancy rate while keeping the necessary flexibility 

for our portfolio optimization. In 2017 we have seen an increase in the vacancy rate by 1.1% due to our 

sales and modernization activities.

VACANCY SPLIT

Residential Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

Units for sale 0.3% 0.2%

Units under construction 2.7% 1.3%

Marketing (available for letting) 0.6% 1.0%

Total vacancy (units) 699 450

Total vacancy (m2) 45,717 28,933

Total vacancy rate 3.6% 2.5%

Total EPRA vacancy rate 3.6% 2.5%
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4.8%
like-for-like 
rental growth

For our privatization activities, it is important that we keep some vacant units available for sale as most 

individual buyers are looking to purchase for self-use, for which they prefer to purchase vacant units. 

The purchase prices for vacant units are higher than for rented ones, which compensates for the in-

creased vacancy loss during the sales period.

ACQUISITIONS

On the portfolio side, the Company continued its substantial growth in 2017. During the year under 

review, we completed the acquisition of 2,948 residential units and 322 commercial units for a total 

volume of approx. EUR 600 million, all in Berlin. As a result of these acquisitions, our portfolio grew to 

almost 22,000 units.

During the year, we completed 25 deals, three of which were above the EUR 50 million range. The biggest 

transaction was in the fourth quarter, when we took over the Asgard portfolio, including a total 1,358 

units for a gross cost of EUR 213 million, reflecting a rent multiplier of 29.8 times with an average rent 

per m2 of EUR 6.12. The rest of the acquisitions were purchased for an average rent multiplier of 28.9 

times, with an average rent per m2 of EUR 6.75 and 45% reversionary potential.

Central
S-Bahn 
ring

S-Bahn 
ring 
(1960-
1990)

City 
Ring

City 
Ring 
(1960-
1990) Total

Property value (year-end in EUR m) – 
CBRE report

235 98 28 71 148 580

Value/m2 (EUR) 2,726 2,330 2,366 2,231 1,831 2,295

Total m2 (k) 86 42 12 32 81 253

Run rate (year-end in EUR m) 3.00 1.67 0.19 0.89 1.47 7.21

Number of commercial units - CBRE report 130 63 4 18 98 313

Number of residential units - CBRE report 999 534 152 450 901 3,036

Avg. residential in-place rent  
(EUR/m2)

6.88 6.47 6.69 7.07 6.26 6.63

CBRE market rent (EUR/m2) 9.03 8.69 7.70 8.70 7.26 8.28

Avg. new letting rent  
(EUR/m2) – actual

10.65 9.78 10.30 11.63 7.05 10.33

Occupancy (%) 93.6% 94.4% 96.7% 94.6% 93.4% 93.9%

3,270
units acquired 
in 2017
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ECONOMIC  
REVIEW
ECONOMIC AND INDUSTRY-SPECIFIC  
PARAMETERS 

GENERAL MARKET CONDITIONS

Germany's economy grew at a brisk pace in 

2017. Adjusted for inflation, the gross domestic 

product increased by 2.2% during the year as a 

whole, thereby exceeding the average growth 

rate of the past ten years (+1.3%) by nearly one 

percentage point. When adjusted for calendar ef-

fects, the GDP growth actually equaled 2.5%. The 

positive growth impulses originated mainly inside 

Germany. Private consumer spending increased 

by 2.0%, whereas general government consump-

tion rose by 1.4%. Moreover, gross fixed capital 

formation registered an above-average growth 

of +3.0%. The growth in building investments 

amounted to 2.6% year on year. The number of 

gainfully employed persons climbed to nearly 

44.3 million toward year-end, which implies a 

year-on-year increase of 1.5%. It is the highest 

employment figure on record since Germany's 

reunification in 1990. (Source: Federal Statistical 

Office of Germany).

The positive trend on the labor market makes 

it reasonable to anticipate sustained positive 

impulses for private consumption, and more-

over indicates positive parameters for the rental 

housing markets in Germany. Given the fact 

that the European Central Bank (ECB) has left 

its main refinancing interest rate in place after 

lowering it to 0.00% in March 2016, real estate fi-

nancing conditions are likely to remain favorable.

DEMOGRAPHICS AND HOUSING  
DEMAND IN BERLIN

Berlin is the most populous city in Germany, 

and has registered steady demographic growth 

since 2005. By year-end 2017, the number of 

persons with principal place of residence in the 

German capital had gone up to 3,711,930. This 

means that Berlin's population grew by another 

41,308 people year on year. (Source: Berlin-Bran-

denburg Statistics Office – press release dated 

22/02/2018). Officially, Berlin's city administration 

expects the population of Berlin to rise to about 

3.8 million by 2030. Yet this forecast is based on 

a population of around 3.562 million residents 

as at December 31, 2014, which in itself topped 

the most optimistic recent forecast from 2012 by 

nearly 20,000 people. (Source: Senate Depart-

ment for Urban Development and the Environ-

ment, demographic forecast for Berlin and its 

boroughs, 2015-2030, from January 2016).

Previous forecasts of the trend in the num-

ber of households in Berlin used to assume a 

growth of about 3.0% between 2010 and 2025. 

According to the IW German Economic Institute 

in Cologne, this would imply an annual require-

ment of roughly 20,000 additional flats between 
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now and 2020. The housing demand is driven 

not only by the growth in population, but also 

by the growing number of single and two-per-

son households, and the corresponding rise in 

the total number of households in Berlin. At this 

time, the Berlin-Brandenburg metro region and 

Berlin proper are expected to see demographic 

growth of 7% and 6%, respectively, until 2030. 

If the incoming migration maintained its present 

momentum, almost 194,000 new flats would 

be necessary to stay abreast of the associable 

demand. Although the number of completed units 

in multi-family houses has increased from less 

than 2,500 since 2012 and stood at 8,800 units 

by 2016, it lags hopelessly behind the anticipated 

growth in demand. (Source: IWK; Michael Bauer 

Research GmbH, Ziegert Condominium Report 

Berlin 2017/2018).

While the unemployment rate in Berlin remains 

well above the current nationwide average for Ger-

many, it dropped considerably in 2017 and is now 

at 9.0% (2016: 9.8%). This puts unemployment in 

Berlin at its lowest level since the city was reunified 

in 1990. The number of insurable employees in 

Berlin rose to 1.458 million by October 2017, which 

implies a year-on-year increase by 58,900 persons 

or by 4.2%. Once again, Berlin made the record 

with the fastest growth rate among the German 

Bundesländer. At around 10%, job growth was 

particularly brisk in the information and commu-

nications industry, being roughly twice as high as 

the national average. That being said, it should 

be added that the manufacturing industries also 

reported rising employment levels. (Source: Senate 

Administration for Economy, Energy and Enterpris-

es, press release from 03/01/2018).

REAL ESTATE STOCK AND HOUSING  
MARKET TRENDS IN BERLIN

Berlin is home to Germany's largest rental housing 

market with a stock of nearly two million residen-

tial units. (Source: Berlin-Brandenburg Statistics 

Office). Demand on Berlin's housing market has 

increased in tandem with the demographic growth 

in recent years, causing the available housing 

supply to be fully utilized and both rents and 

prices to soar. Against this background, housing 

construction has gathered momentum lately, yet 

it continues to significantly lag behind the antici-

pated demand. In 2016, a total of 9,036 new flats 

in multi-family dwellings were completed. This 

means that the number of housing completions, 

while having increased year on year, still falls well 

short of the volume that would be required to 

meet actual demand. Specifically the target stated 

by the city of Berlin to complete 20,000 flats an-

nually was quite obviously missed again. 

It is safe to assume that the number of plan-

ning permissions approx. 22,000 in 2017, but 

empirical data shows that the number of actual 

housing completions tends to be substantial-

ly lower than the number approved because 

the total always includes a certain quantity of 

speculative planning permissions, the purpose 

of which is to secure zoning rights early on and 

to resell the zoned properties later. 2018 is likely 

to experience another increase in the number of 

planning permissions, and this should result in 

an increase in supply. However, it is not certain 

if this will be enough to meet the stated tar-

gets. Demand for rental housing in Berlin will 

very likely continue to go unmet in the years to 

come, as in order to satisfy demand, a rate of 

over 20,000 new flats coming on-stream annual-

ly would have to be sustained for several years in 

a row. (Source: JLL Residential City Profile Berlin, 

H2 2017, published in February 2018).

Residential asking rents in Berlin rose to EUR 11.10 

per m² and month during the second half-year of 

2017. It implies a growth rate of 9.1 percent year 

on year. Rent increases continued to outpace the 

long-term average measured since 2004. Since 

demographic growth has slightly eased compared 
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PROFIT SITUATION

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (*) 

For the year ended For the three months ended

In EUR thousand Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

Net rental income 103,300 84,673 29,078 23,329

Income from facility services 5,881 5,137 1,435 1,233

Income from rental activities 109,181 89,810 30,513 24,562

Cost of rental activities (20,414) (15,870) (5,023) (3,413)

NET OPERATING INCOME 88,767 73,940 25,490 21,149

NOI from rental activities margin (%) 85.9% 87.3% 87.7% 90.7%

Overhead costs (**) (11,677) (10,552) (4,314) (4,090)

EBITDA FROM RENTAL ACTIVITIES 77,090 63,388 21,176 17,059

EBITDA from rental activities margin (%) 74.6% 74.9% 72.8% 73.1%

Net profit from privatizations 3,911 3,239 1,485 1,044 

EBITDA total 81,001 66,627 22,661 18,103 

Net cash interest (21,702) (19,197) (6,608) (4,825)

Other net financial costs (***) (6,305) (8,531) 495 1,171 

Depreciation and amortization (452) (356) (110) (119)

EBT 52,542 38,543 16,438 14,330 

(*) Excluding effects from the changes in fair value of investment properties. 

(**) Excluding one-off costs.

(***) Includes mostly one-off refinance costs.

to previous years, and since housing stock has 

started to expand, the rental growth rates in 

Berlin could slow somewhat in the medium term, 

but pent-up demand is likely to ensure that they 

will remain well above the inflation rate in the 

future. (Source: JLL Residential City Profile Ber-

lin, H2 2017, published in February 2018).

EUR

57m
FFO 1 run rate
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FFO

For the year ended For the three months ended

In EUR thousand Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

EBITDA from rental activities 77,090 63,388 21,176 17,059

Net cash interest (21,702) (19,197) (6,608) (4,825)

Current income taxes (1,043) (678) (847) (206)

FFO 1 (from rental activities) 54,345 43,513 13,721 12,028

Maintenance capital expenditures (10,810) (8,841) (3,769) (4,515)

AFFO (from rental activities) 43,535 34,672 9,952 7,513

Net profit from privatizations 3,911 3,239 1,485 1,044

FFO 2 (incl. disposal results) 58,256 46,752 15,206 13,072

No. of shares (*) 44,100 39,083 44,100 44,100

FFO 1 per share 1.23 1.11 0.31 0.27

FFO 2 per share 1.32 1.20 0.34 0.30

(*) On April 21, 2016 and September 14, 2016 the Company issued new shares. The number of shares is calculated as the weighted average shares for the period.

FFO	

Our funds from operation of rental activities without disposal (FFO 1) for the full year rose by approx. 

25% in comparison to the previous year. Our December net rent represent an annualized FFO from rental 

activities of EUR 57 million, representing an FFO yield of 3.1% on our adjusted EPRA NAV (less cash). In 

2018 we expect further substantial growth in the FFO 1 run rate as a result of both the continuous like-

for-like growth in the portfolio and further acquisitions.

CASH FLOW	

The cash flow of the Group breaks down as follows:

CASH FLOW

In EUR thousand Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2016

Net cash flow from operating activities 86,852 76,379

Net cash flow used in investing activities (495,038) (228,290)

Net cash flow from financing activities 346,295 265,887

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (61,891) 48,976

Opening balance cash and cash equivalents 
and cash deposits

183,421 134,445

Closing balance cash and cash equivalents 121,530 183,421

The change in cash flow was mainly driven by the placement of an EUR 400 million bond, by new acqui-

sitions and the respective effects on operations, investment and financing.
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ECONOMIC REVIEW

FINANCIAL AND ASSET POSITION

The changes in the assets and liabilities result mainly from the acquisitions in 2017. The fair value of the 

investment properties is based on valuations for December 31, 2017 performed by CBRE. The current 

average cap rate is 3.0% (2016: 3.5%) and was calculated based on the net operating income for the last 

month in the reporting period on an annualized basis, divided by the fair value.

FINANCIAL POSITION

In EUR thousand Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

Investment properties 3,305,723 2,290,740

Other non-current assets 8,142 5,908

Non-current assets 3,313,865 2,296,648

Cash and cash deposits 121,530 183,421

Other current assets 82,868 82,325

Current assets 204,398 265,746

Total assets 3,518,263 2,562,394

Interest-bearing debts 1,423,119 904,714

Other liabilities 80,208 53,503

Deferred tax liabilities 183,443 117,673

Total labilities 1,686,770 1,075,890

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,795,390 1,461,945

Non-controlling interests 36,103 24,559

Total equity 1,831,493 1,486,504

Total equity and liabilities 3,518,263 2,562,394

On December 31, 2017, our EPRA NAV was EUR 45.10 per share and the EPRA Triple Net Asset Value 

(NNNAV) was EUR 42.62 per share.

EUR

45.10
EPRA NAV per share
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ECONOMIC REVIEW

EPRA NAV

In EUR thousand Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,795,390 1,461,945

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 2,985 4,185

Deferred tax liabilities 183,443 117,673

Revaluation of trading properties 6,939 7,542

EPRA NAV 1,988,757 1,591,345

No. of shares 44,100 44,100

EPRA NAV per share 45.10 36.08

EPRA TRIPLE NET ASSET VALUE (NNNAV)

In EUR thousand Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

EPRA NAV 1,988,757 1,591,345

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (2,985) (4,185)

Fair value of debt (10,780) (16,657)

Deferred taxes (183,443) (117,673)

EPRA NNNAV 1,791,549 1,452,830

No. of shares 44,100 44,100

EPRA NNNAV per share 40.62 32.94
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FUNDING

We fund our properties based on a conservative financing strategy with a mix of secured mortgage loans 

and capital market instruments.

FINANCING

In EUR thousand Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

Bonds, other loans and borrowings and other financial liabilities 1,451,224 919,851

Cash and cash equivalents (121,530) (183,421)

Net financial liabilities 1,329,694 736,430

Fair value of properties 3,355,623 2,344,419

loan-to-value ratio 39.6% 31.4%

Average interest rate 1.8% 2.1%

As at the reporting date, our loan-to-value (LTV) was 39.6% with an average interest rate of the loan 

portfolio of 1.8% and a weighted average maturity of approx. 5.4 years. Almost all of our loans have a 

fixed interest rate or are hedged.

The following table shows the loan maturity profile:

In EUR million Nominal Value Avg. interest rate

2018 54.5 3.2%

2019 17.2 1.8%

2020 48.8 2.1%

2021 112.3 2.2%

2022 293.3 1.7%

2023 189.1 1.4%

2024 548.4 1.7%

2025+ 86.0 2.0%

Total 1,349.6 1.8%

ECONOMIC REVIEW
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EPRA KEY FIGURES

The European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) is a non-profit organization that has its registered 

headquarters in Brussels and represents the interest of listed European real estate companies. It aims 

to raise awareness for European listed real estate companies as a potential investment opportunity. ADO 

Properties has been a member of EPRA since its IPO in 2015. 

EPRA has defined a framework for standardized reporting in its EPRA Best Practice Recommendations 

(SPRs) that goes beyond the scope of the IFRSs. ADO only uses some of the EPRA key figures, which are 

non-GAAP measures, as performance indicators.

EPRA Perfor-
mance Measure Definition Purpose Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016

Change 
in %

EPRA NAV (In 
EUR thousand)

EPRA NAV repre-
sents the fair value 
of net assets on an 
ongoing, long-term 
basis. Assets and 
liabilities that are 
not expected to 
crystallize in normal 
circumstances, such 
as the fair value of 
financial derivatives 
and deferred taxes 
on property valua-
tion surpluses, are 
therefore excluded. 
Similarly, trading 
properties are adjus-
ted to their fair value 
under the EPRA NAV 
measure. 

Makes adjustments 
to IFRS NAV to pro-
vide stakeholders 
with the most rele-
vant information on 
the fair value of the 
assets and liabilities 
within a true real 
estate investment 
company with long-
term investment 
strategy.

1,988,757 1,591,345 25%

EPRA NNNAV (In 
EUR thousand)

EPRA NAV adjusted 
to include the fair 
values of financial 
instruments, debt 
and deferred taxes.

The objective of the 
EPRA NNNAV mea-
sure is to present 
net asset value 
including fair value 
adjustments in re
spect of all material 
balance sheet items 
that are not report
ed at their fair value 
as part of EPRA NAV. 

1,791,549 1,452,830 23%

EPRA Vacancy 
rate (in %)

Estimated Market 
Rental Value (ERV) of 
vacant space divided 
by ERV of the whole 
portfolio

A "pure" (%) mea-
sure of investment 
property space that 
is vacant on ERV

3.6% 2.5% 110 bsp

ECONOMIC REVIEW
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SUBSEQUENT  
EVENTS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

A. After the reporting date, the Group carried 

out a transaction to take over 94% of the issued 

shares of a Dutch entity holding a residential 

building complex located in Berlin, Germany. 

The total consideration amounted to EUR 160.4 

million (including approx. 2% transaction costs). 

The building includes 832 residential units and 

24 commercial units with a total leasable area of 

approx. 66 thousand m². At the date of acquisi-

tion, the total annual net cold rent from the new 

acquisition amounted to EUR 5.6 million.

B. In addition to the above transaction, after the 

reporting date, the Group acquired 22 assets in 

12 different deals, some of them initially as-

sessed as asset deals, and others as share deals, 

comprising a total of 581 residential units and 26 

commercial units in Berlin. The gross purchase 

price for 100% of the acquired assets amounted 

to EUR 91.9 million. At the date of acquisition, 

the total annual net cold rent from the new 

acquisitions amounted to EUR 2.9 million. As at 

December 31, 2017, the Group paid an advance of 

EUR 34 million that was recorded as advances in 

respect of investment properties.

C. On March 9, 2018 the Group signed a EUR 175 

million revolving credit facility with a 2 year term 

and two extension options, each for 1 year.

D. As at the reporting date the Group is in the fi-

nal steps to set-up a commercial paper program 

with a maximum volume of EUR 500 million 

under which funds with a maximum term of 364 

days can be raised at short notice.

E. On March 19, 2018 the Company's Board pro-

posed to the Annual General Meeting to pay a 

dividend in the amount of EUR 26.5 million 

(EUR 0.60 per share). The Annual General 

Meeting will take place on June 19, 2018.
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COMPARISON OF THE FORECAST WITH THE 
ACTUALS OF 2017

Our operations developed in 2017 as planned. The 

increasing demand in Berlin, but especially in City 

Ring locations, enabled us to achieve a like-for-like 

rental growth for the full year of approx. 5%. This 

growth was supported by our targeted investment 

program which allowed us to let more units and 

improve rents further.

Our privatization activities also saw a positive 

development with 84 units sold during 2017 for an 

average price per m2 which was 9.8% higher than 

in the previous year.

The average cost of debt was further reduced 

during 2017 to 1.8%, enabling us to achieve our 

target by refinancing inefficient high interest rate 

loans that we had taken over with acquired assets 

and by placing a EUR 400 million inaugural bond 

with a coupon of 1.5%. 

FFO 1 at the end of the year developed positively 

and was running in Q4 at EUR 57 million. On track 

to achieve our run rate guidance of EUR 64 million 

when taking into account our acquisitions which 

are still in the closing process.

The Board of Directors has recommended a divi-

dend EUR 26.5 million (EUR 0.60 per share) which 

represents a payout of 49% of total FFO 1.

FORECAST FOR 2018

We are positive that ADO Properties will continue 

to increase the value of its assets, its NAV and 

NAV per share by generating significant like-for-

like rental growth in the future. We anticipate 

our like-for-like rental growth for 2018 to be 

approx. 5%. We expect our FFO 1 run rate to be 

approx. EUR 64 million after closing all signed 

transactions.

For 2018 we anticipate a dividend payout ratio of 

up to 50% of FFO 1.

FORECAST  
REPORT

FORECAST REPORT
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RISK REPORT
ADO Properties S.A. continually monitors and controls 
risk positions in the Group in order to avoid develop-
ments which might threaten the existence of the Group 
and, at the same time, to exploit any opportunities that 
occur. The risk management system has been designed 
on the basis of the corporate strategy and the portfolio 
structure as an appropriate and effective early warning 
and control instrument. The established risk management 
system enables the Board of Directors and the Senior 
Management Team to identify and assess material risks 
at all times within the Group and in the environment. The 
Board of Directors and the Senior Management Team of 
ADO Properties S.A. currently sees no risks that threaten 
the Company's existence.

RISK REPORT

RISKS RELATED TO THE MARKET

All of the real estate we own is located in Berlin. 

Accordingly, we are dependent on trends in the Ber-

lin residential real estate market, as well as general 

economic conditions and developments in Berlin. 

The continuing uncertainty regarding the develop-

ment of the global economy, for example due to the 

ongoing sovereign debt crises and inflation and de-

flation risks in many parts of the world, particularly 

in Europe, and the quantitative easing announced 

by the European Central Bank, may result in eco-

nomic instability, limited access to debt and equity 

financing and possible defaults by our counterpar-

ties. The current economic environment is char-

acterized by low interest rates and comparatively 

high valuations of residential real estate portfolios 

in Germany. Any rise in interest rates could have 

material adverse effects on the asset valuations, 

the German real estate market and on us. It could 

become more difficult for us to implement our 

strategy of capturing additional growth opportuni-

ties by acquiring residential real estate portfolios at 

attractive terms, particularly due to the high current 

and future market prices for real estate portfolios.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

We rely significantly on earnings from rentals. As a 

result, our performance outcomes depend largely on 

the amount of rental income generated, vacancies, 
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rent reductions, collection losses and the expenses 

we incur in generating such rents. Our rental income 

is impacted predominantly by rents charged and 

vacancy levels. To the extent we generate earnings 

from the sale of properties, our performance out-

comes depend on the market value of our real estate 

properties. Rents and real estate prices, in turn, 

depend largely on economic and business conditions 

in Germany in general and in our market in particular. 

Increased rent restrictions could adversely affect our 

results of operations because we rely significantly 

on earning from rentals. An increase in the vacancy 

rates or a decrease in achievable market rents of our 

residential real estate portfolio could have a material 

adverse effect on rental income and operating profit.

We are exposed to risks related to the structur-

al condition of our properties and their mainte-

nance, repair and modernization. In order to sus-

tain demand for a rental property and to generate 

adequate revenue over the long term, a property's 

condition must be maintained, repaired and/or 

improved to a standard that meets market demand 

and complies with environmental laws. Although we 

constantly review the condition of our properties 

and have established a reporting system to mon-

itor and budget the necessary maintenance and 

modernization measures, numerous factors may 

generate substantial cost overruns or unexpected 

increases in costs for maintenance and modern-

ization. These factors may include the material 

and substances used at the time of construction, 

currently unknown building code violations and/or 

the age of the relevant building, which could result 

in substantial unbudgeted costs for refurbishment, 

modernization, decontamination required to remove 

and dispose of any hazardous materials (e.g. asbes-

tos) which are harmful to the health of the resi-

dents, or other maintenance or upgrade work. When 

buying new properties, we bear risk in relation to 

unexpected liabilities, wrong assessment of value 

as well as due diligence findings and challenges 

with respect to integrating acquisitions.

For a detailed description of ADO's financial risk 

management objectives and policies, including its 

policy for hedging each major type of forecasted 

transaction for which hedge accounting is used 

and exposure to price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk 

and cash flow risk, please refer to note 23 in the 

consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RISKS

A change in general interest rate levels may in-

crease our financing costs, and the values of our 

properties and the prices at which we are able to 

sell our properties may decrease. We attempt to 

mitigate interest rate risk by entering into hedging 

agreements; therefore, we are exposed to the risks 

associated with the valuation of hedging instru-

ments and hedge counterparties and the hedging 

agreement may not be effective.

We have a substantial level of debt and are de-

pendent on refinancing significant amounts as 

they become due. We may not be able to extend 

our existing credit arrangements, refinance our 

debt on substantially similar terms when it ma-

tures or obtain acquisition financing on financially 

attractive terms when needed. Our cash flows and 

possible future dividend payments are dependent 

on the distributable capital and annual profit and 

profitability of our subsidiaries or must be aug-

mented by borrowed capital.

For a detailed description of ADO's financial risk 

management objectives and policies, including its 

policy for hedging each major type of forecasted 

transaction for which hedge accounting is used 

and exposure to price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk 

and cash flow risk, please refer to note 23 in the 

consolidated financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN THE COMPANY

The Company considers Integrated Risk Management 

(IRM) to be a key part of effective management and 

internal control. The Company strives for effective 

RISK REPORT
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IRM and financial navigation to safeguard the assets 

of the Company and to proactively support the Com-

pany's strategic and compliance initiatives. 

The goal of IRM is to help the Company to operate 

more effectively in a dynamic environment by pro-

viding a framework for a systematic approach to 

risk management and exploring opportunities with 

an acceptable level of risk. The Board of Directors 

regularly discusses the operational and financial 

results including the related risks.

Risk management covers financial, strategic, com-

pliance as well as operational aspects. Opera

tional risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss 

arising from a wide variety of causes associated 

with the Company's processes, personnel, tech-

nology and infrastructure, and from external fac-

tors other than credit, market and liquidity risks 

such as those arising from legal and regulatory 

requirements and generally accepted standards 

of corporate behavior. Operational risks arise 

from all of the Company's operations. The Com-

pany's objective is to manage operational risk so 

as to to balance the avoidance of financial losses 

and damage to the Company's reputation with 

overall cost effectiveness, and to avoid control 

procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. 

The Company's policy on managing financial risks 

seeks to ensure effective liquidity and cash flow 

management and to protect Company equity cap-

ital against financial risks. 

As part of its continuing evolution, the Compa-

ny aims to make continuous improvements to its 

risk management and internal control system. Our 

internal accounting control system is designed to 

ensure all business transactions are correctly and 

promptly accounted for and that reliable data on 

the Company's financial situation is available. It 

ensures compliance with legal stipulations, ac-

counting standards and accounting rules.

A Group-wide calendar of deadlines helps ensure 

the complete and timely processing of financial 

statements. By separating financial functions and 

through ongoing review, we ensure that potential 

errors are identified on a timely basis and ac-

counting standards are complied with. Our internal 

control system is an integral component of IRM. 

The purpose of our internal control system for 

accounting and reporting is to ensure its compli-

ance with legal regulations, the principles of proper 

accounting, the rules on the International Financial 

Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and 

with Company standards. In addition, we perform 

assessments to help identify and minimize any risk 

with a direct influence on our financial reporting. 

We monitor changes in accounting standards and 

enlist the advice of external experts to reduce the 

risk of accounting misstatements in complex issues. 

The Company and individual entity financial state-

ments are subject to external audits which act as 

an independent check and monitoring mechanism 

of the accounting system and its output.

REGULATORY AND LEGAL RISKS

Our business is subject to the general legal envi-

ronment in Germany. Any disadvantageous changes 

in the legal environment, such as mandatory en-

vironmental modernization provisions, restrictions 

regarding modernization measures or provisions 

(including taxes) that result in the incurrence of 

costs in the event of a property sale may be detri

mental to us. German laws protecting residential 

tenants and existing restrictions on the rate of 

rental increases could make it more difficult to 

increase the rents of the residential units we own.

More restrictive environmental laws could also 

result in additional expenses. For example, since 

2011, owners of specified centralized heated water 

supply facilities for use in multi-family residen-

tial units are obliged to test the level of potential 

legionella contamination at least every three years, 

thereby incurring additional costs for the testing 

as well as for remediation measures, if contami-

nation is detected. Additional costs would also be 

incurred if the legal requirements relating to the 

construction and use of existing properties were to 

RISK REPORT
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become more onerous. Construction and environ-

mental requirements are of particular significance 

in this context. For example, the currently appli-

cable version of the Energy Savings Regulation 

(Energieeinsparverordnung) prescribes specified 

investments for renovation aimed at reducing 

energy consumption (for instance, with respect 

to thermal insulation) and requires a landlord to 

present an energy certificate that discloses the 

property's energy efficiency to a potential tenant 

prior to entering into a new lease agreement. The 

same applies with respect to the sale of proper-

ties. Additionally, requirements may be imposed in 

order to increase the availability of housing that is 

accessible and adapted for people with disabilities.

In addition, we could be adversely affected by 

changes to public building law which could restrict 

our ability to manage our properties in the way 

we had previously expected. The Government of 

Berlin has passed a regulation according to which 

currently 33 areas of Berlin, located in the dis-

tricts of Pankow (ten areas), Friedrichshain-Kreuz-

berg (eight areas), Mitte (five areas), Neukölln 

(five areas), Tempelhof-Schöneberg (four areas), 

and Treptow-Köpenick (one area), are defined as 

milieu protection (Milieuschutz) areas in which 

rented apartments may no longer be turned into 

condominiums and sold (privatized), ensuring that 

people from all social milieus can afford to rent 

apartments in all parts of the city. The owner of a 

rented apartment requires an exception permis-

sion by the relevant district to sell the apartment. 

Such exception permission may be granted, for 

example, in case the apartment is to be sold to the 

current tenant.

Moreover, environmental laws impose actual and 

contingent obligations on us to undertake remedial 

action on contaminated sites and in contaminated 

buildings. These obligations may relate to sites we 

currently own or operate, sites we have former-

ly owned or operated or sites where waste from 

our operations has been deposited. Furthermore, 

actions for damages or remediation measures may 

be brought against us, namely under the German 

Federal Soil Protection Act (Bundesbodenschutzge-

setz). According to this Act, not only the polluter 

but also its legal successor, the owner of the con-

taminated site and certain previous owners may be 

held liable for soil and pond water contamination. 

The costs of any removal, investigation or reme-

diation of any residual pollution on such sites or 

in such buildings as well as costs related to legal 

proceedings, including potential damages, regard-

ing such matters may be substantial, and it may be 

impossible, for a number of reasons, for us to have 

recourse against a former seller of a contaminated 

site or building or the party that may otherwise be 

responsible for the contamination. Laws and reg-

ulations, as may be amended over time, may also 

impose liability for the release of certain materials 

into the air or water from a property, including as-

bestos, and such release could form the basis for 

liability to third parties for personal injury or other 

damages. In addition, if our employees infringe or 

have infringed environmental protection laws, we 

could be exposed to civil or criminal damages. We 

may be required to provide additional reserves to 

be sufficiently allocated toward our potential ob-

ligations to remove and dispose of any hazardous 

and toxic substances.

CONCLUDING REMARK

This management report contains forward-looking 

statements and information. These forward-look-

ing statements may be identified by words such 

as "expects," "intends," "will," or words of simi-

lar meaning. Such statements are based on our 

current expectations, assessments and assump-

tions about future developments and events and, 

therefore, are naturally subject to uncertainties 

and risks. The actual developments and events 

may differ significantly both positively and nega-

tively from the forward-looking statements so that 

the expected, anticipated, intended, believed or 

estimated developments and events may, in retro-

spect, prove to be incorrect.

RISK REPORT
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REMUNERATION 
REPORT
REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD  
OF DIRECTORS

Compensation of the Board members is determined 

by the General Meeting of the shareholders. The two 

independent Board members are entitled to re-

ceive EUR 50 thousand and an additional EUR 1,500 

per attendance at a meeting of the Board or any 

Committee. The Vice Chairman is entitled to receive 

a total compensation of up to EUR 500 thousand 

assuming 100% payout of the respective short-term 

and long-term incentives. The compensation of the 

Vice Chairman is based on the same system as the 

Senior Management compensation. The other three 

Board members from ADO Group do not receive 

payments. Mr. Rabin Savion receives only payment 

for his Senior Management position as CEO.

All Board members are reimbursed for their 

reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in 

connection with attending Board and committee 

meetings. The respective compensation for Board 

members shall be paid pro rata for the days served 

as Board members during each respective year and 

for committee members pro rata temporis on the 

basis of meetings actually attended. In addition, 

the Company included the Board members and 

the Senior Management members in a D&O group 

insurance. The Company has not granted Board 

members any advances or loans.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR  
MANAGEMENT TEAM

The Senior Management and the Vice Chairman 

remuneration system provides for a fixed annual 

salary, a short-term incentive ("STI") and a long-

term incentive ("LTI"). 

The STI is an annual payment dependent on the 

achievement of certain individual targets (the 

"STI targets") and the relevant weighting of each 

STI target in relation to the other applicable STI 

targets. Unless determined and communicated 

otherwise to the Senior Management members, 

the STI targets shall comprise (i) Group AFFO per 

share (weighting of 30%), (ii) Group NOI per share 

(weighting of 20%), (iii) net cold rent (weighting of 

15%), (iv) residential occupancy rate (weighting of 

10%); (v) like-for-like (weighting of 15%) and (v) the 

discretionary decision of the Board (weighting of 

10%) which, save for targets that do not relate to 

budgeted figures, shall be measured against the 

respective budget as determined by the Board for 

the relevant fiscal year. The compound STI target 

achievement shall be capped at 125%. Assuming 

100% of all targets are achieved, the STI makes up 

to 23% of the aggregate total compensation. 

The LTI is measured against two LTI targets, each 

weighted 50%: (i) the development of the NAV per 

share as targeted by the Board and (ii) the devel-

REMUNERATION REPORT
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opment of the Company's share price in relation to 

the EPRA GERMANY index, both measured over the 

LTI period. LTI payments will be settled in shares 

of the Company and are capped at a compound 

target achievement of 120%. The LTI without recog-

nition of any development in the fair market value 

of shares, if granted, assuming 100% of all targets 

are achieved, constitutes up to 36% of the aggre-

gate total compensation. The LTI is settled when 

the service agreement ends. 

The service agreements (the "Service Agree-

ments"), including the fixed salary, STI and LTI, 

have a fixed term ending on July 23, 2019, or in 

the case of the CFO on June 30, 2019. They may 

generally be terminated by either party, subject 

to six months' prior notice. If the CFO Service 

Agreement is validly terminated by the Company 

(with the required six-month notice period) for 

reasons other than a material breach, the CFO 

shall be entitled, upon expiry of the notice period, 

to a severance payment for premature termina-

tion. The severance payment shall not exceed 

the amount of the compensation that would have 

been owed by the Company to the CFO between 

the expiry of the notice period and June 30, 2019 

(the "CFO Premature Termination Payment"). The 

CFO Premature Termination Payment shall in-

clude the base salary and the target volumes of 

the STI and LTI due for the respective period. If a 

Senior Management member's Service Agreement 

is validly terminated due to a change of control 

event, an additional payment shall be paid, except 

in the instance of a material breach of duties on 

the part of the Senior Management member. The 

additional payment may not exceed the amount 

of the payments that would become due and pay-

able for two years of the relevant Service Agree-

ment, including the base salary and the STI and 

LTI due for the respective period.

The members of the Senior Management are 

bound by non-compete restrictions in their Service 

Agreements for a period of six months following 

termination of their Service Agreement.

REMUNERATION REPORT
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REMUNERATION REPORT

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID TO THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM 
WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the reporting year, the following total remuneration was granted to the Management Team members, in EUR 

2017 Rabin Savion Florian Goldgruber Eyal Horn Shlomo Zohar

CEO CFO COO Vice Chairman

Fixed remuneration 310,000 176,000 176,000 56,000

Fringe benefits 21,167 25,553 13,991 959

Total 331,167 201,553 189,991 56,959

STI 149,000 94,000 100,000 181,000

LTI 171,113 106,700 109,087 177,550

Total 651,280 402,253 399,078 415,509

2016 Rabin Savion Florian Goldgruber Eyal Horn Shlomo Zohar

CEO CFO COO Vice Chairman

Fixed remuneration 310,000 88,000 176,000 56,000

Fringe benefits 37,329 157 15,267 1,701

Total 347,329 88,157 191,267 57,701

STI 131,249 35,235 88,087 159,437

LTI 197,738 53,350 125,062 177,550

Total 676,316 176,742 404,416 394,688

On March 21, 2016, the Company and Mr. Zaltsman, the former Chief Financial Officer signed a mutual 

termination agreement with effect from July 23, 2016. The total remuneration during the year amounted to 

EUR 1,325,727 including fixed remuneration, STI, LTI and termination payments in the amount of EUR 611,666.
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RESPONSI­
BILITY STATE­
MENT
We confirm, to the best of our knowledge, that the consol-
idated financial statements of ADO Properties S.A. pre-
sented in this Annual Financial Report for 2017, prepared 
in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Stan-
dards Board and as adopted by the European Union, give 
a true and fair view of the net assets, financial and earn-
ings position of the Company, and that the management 
report includes a fair review of the development of the 
business, and describes the main opportunities, risks and 
uncertainties associated with the Company.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER

Rabin Savion

CHIEF FINANCIAL 
OFFICER

Florian Goldgruber

CHIEF OPERATING 
OFFICER

Eyal Horn

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
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GENERAL

ADO Properties S.A.'s ("ADO" or the "Company") 

corporate governance practices are governed by 

Luxembourg Law (particularly the Luxembourg 

Companies Law) and the Company's Articles of As-

sociation. As a Luxembourg company listed solely 

on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, the Company 

is not subject to any specific mandatory corpo-

rate governance rules. Nevertheless, the Company 

makes efforts to comply, to the extent possible, 

with the German corporate governance rules to 

ensure responsible and transparent corporate 

management. This is the basis and leading principle 

underlying our activities.

The governing bodies of ADO are the Board of 

Directors (the "Board") and the General Meeting of 

the shareholders. The powers of these governing 

bodies are defined in the Law of August 10, 1915 on 

commercial companies and the Articles of Associ-

ation of the Company. ADO's Board together with 

the Senior Management Team manages the Com-

pany in accordance with the provisions of Lux-

embourg and German company law. The Board's 

duties, responsibilities and business procedures 

are laid down in its Rules of Procedure.

The Board consists of seven members elected 

by the General Meeting as representatives of the 

shareholders. Four Board members (including the 

Chairman and the Vice Chairman) are representa-

tives of ADO Group Ltd., the largest shareholder in 

the Company. Two Board members are indepen-

dent Board members and one Board member is 

also acting as the CEO of the Company. Their term 

of office is four years in accordance with statuto-

ry provisions and the Articles of Association. The 

Board develops the strategic direction of the Com-

pany together with the Senior Management and 

ensures its implementation.

The Senior Management of the Company includes the 

CEO, CFO and COO and is integral to the management 

of the Company and its subsidiaries and responsible 

for the day-to-day management of the business of 

such subsidiaries. Mr. Rabin Savion is acting both as 

CEO of the Company and as Board member.

COMMITTEES

The Board's work takes place with plenary ses-

sions and committees. Currently, the Company has 

established three committees: The Audit Commit-

tee, the Nomination and Compensation Committee, 

and the Investment and Financing Committee.

Audit Committee – The Audit Committee assists 

the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities 

relating to the integrity of the financial statements 

and the adequacy of internal control systems; it 

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE 
REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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makes recommendations for the appointment, 

compensation, retention and oversight, and con-

siders the independence of the external auditors. It 

also performs other duties imposed by applicable 

laws and regulations of the regulated market or 

markets on which the shares of ADO are listed, as 

well as any other duties entrusted to the commit-

tee. The Audit Committee reports periodically to 

the Board on its activities.

Nomination and Compensation Committee – The 

purpose of the Nomination and Compensation 

Committee is to review the compensation policy, 

make proposals as to the remuneration of Execu-

tive Directors and Senior Management, and advise 

on any benefit or incentive schemes. It further 

assists the Board with respect to matters relating 

to the nomination of candidates for the Board and 

the committees. The Nomination and Compensa-

tion Committee decides on the qualifications of 

potential candidates and recommends candidates 

to the Board for election as directors by the Gen-

eral Meeting of the shareholders, as required.

Investment and Financing Committee – The In-

vestment and Financing Committee resolves on 

acquisitions and on the general guidelines and 

policies for implementing the financial strategy, 

financial risks and the management of credit risk. 

The Investment and Financing Committee also 

considers the encumbrance of any assets and shall 

assist with the raising of external financing by any 

member of the Group and with the granting of se-

curities, guarantees and indemnities.

GENERAL MEETING OF THE SHAREHOLDERS

The General Meetings are held at the Company's 

registered office in Luxembourg or any other place 

in Luxembourg as may be specified in the respec-

tive convening notice of the meeting. The Agenda 

of the Annual General Meeting, the reports and the 

documents required for the meeting are published 

on the Company's website. The Company shall en-

sure equal treatment for all shareholders who are 

in the same position with regard to participation 

in and the exercise of voting rights at the General 

Meeting of the shareholders. Any duly constituted 

General Meeting of the shareholders represents 

all the shareholders of the Company. The General 

Meeting of the shareholders is empowered with 

the widest powers to order, implement or ratify 

all acts connected with the Company's operations 

that are not conferred to the Board.

General Meetings of the shareholders (other than 

the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders) 

may be called as often as the interests of the 

Company demand and be held at the Company's 

registered office in Luxembourg or any other place 

in Luxembourg as may be specified in the respec-

tive convening notice of the meeting. The Board 

is obliged to call a General Meeting of the share-

holders when a group of shareholders representing 

at least one-tenth of the issued and outstanding 

shares requests the convening of a General Meet-

ing of the shareholders in writing, indicating the 

agenda of the proposed meeting.

In accordance with the Law of May 24, 2011, Luxem-

bourg Shareholder Rights Law, the convening notice 

is to be published at least thirty days before the day 

of the meeting in the official gazette of Luxembourg 

(Mémoral C. Recueil des Sociétés et Associations), 

and a Luxembourg newspaper as well as in media 

which may reasonably be relied upon for the effective 

dissemination of information to the public throughout 

the European Economic Area, and which is accessible 

rapidly and on a non-discriminatory basis. If a General 

Meeting of the shareholders is adjourned for lack of 

quorum, provided that the convening requirements of 

the Luxembourg Shareholder Rights Law have been 

complied with and no new item has been added to 

the agenda, the 30-day period is reduced to a 17-day 

period. These convening notices must inter alia contain 

the precise date and location of the General Meeting of 

the shareholders and the proposed agenda. They must 

also set out the conditions for attendance and repre-

sentation at the meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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In accordance with the Luxembourg Shareholder 

Rights Law, shareholders holding, individually or 

collectively, at least 5% of the issued share capital 

of the Company (a) have the right to put items on 

the agenda of the General Meeting of the share-

holders and (b) have the right to table draft resolu-

tions for items included or to be included on the 

agenda of the General Meeting of the shareholders. 

Those rights shall be exercised through requests 

in writing by the relevant shareholders submitted 

to the Company by postal services or electronic 

means. The request must be accompanied by a 

justification or a draft resolution to be adopted in 

the General Meeting of the shareholders and shall 

include the electronic or mailing address at which 

the Company can acknowledge receipt of the re-

quest. Any such request from shareholders must 

be received by the Company no later than on the 

22nd day prior to the date of the General Meeting 

of the shareholders.

Each shareholder is entitled to attend the General 

Meeting of the shareholders, in person or by proxy, 

and to exercise voting rights in accordance with 

the Company's Articles of Association. Each share 

(excluding any shares held by the Company) enti-

tles its holder to one vote.

The members of the Senior Management are 

bound by non-compete restrictions in their Service 

Agreements for a period of six months following 

termination of their Service Agreement.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

In most cases, no Board member shall, solely as a 

result of being a Board member, be prevented from 

contracting with the Company, either with regard 

to his tenure of any office or business or as vendor, 

purchaser or in any other manner whatsoever, nor 

shall any contract or other transaction between 

the Company and any other corporation or entity 

or in which any Board member is in any way inter-

ested be affected or invalidated by the fact that 

any one or more of the Board members or officers 

of the Company is or are interested in such con-

tract or transaction or is or are a Board member, 

officer or employee of such other corporation or 

entity. Any Board member or officer of the Com-

pany, officer or employee of any corporation or 

entity with which the Company shall contract or 

otherwise engage in business shall not solely by 

reason of such affiliation with such other corpora-

tion or entity be prevented from considering and 

voting or acting upon any matters with respect to 

such contract or other business. In the event that 

any Board member of the Company shall have any 

conflicting interest ("intérêt opposé à celui de la 

société") within the meaning of Article 60bis-18 of 

the 1915 Companies Act in any transaction involv-

ing the Company, such Board member shall make 

known to the Board such conflicting interest and 

shall not consider or vote on such transaction, 

and such transaction and such member's interest 

therein shall be recorded and reported to the next 

succeeding General Meeting of the shareholders. 

These provisions do not apply if the decisions to 

be taken by the Board concern routine business 

operations that are to be concluded under arm's 

length conditions.

Two Board members are independent. The 

remaining Board members (except Mr. Savion) 

have a potential conflict of interest insofar as 

they serve as Board members and as Senior 

Management in ADO Group Ltd., the largest 

shareholder in the Company. Additionally, the 

Senior Management has potential conflicts of 

interest as they hold options and a non-material 

amount of shares in ADO Group Ltd.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ISSUANCE & BUY-BACKS OF SHARES

The Company has issued 44,100,000 shares, re

gistered with a single settlement organization in 

Luxembourg, LuxCSD, and has an unissued autho-

rized capital which amounts to EUR 750 million. 

The General Meeting of shareholders or the Board 

may from time to time issue shares in accordance 

with Chapter II, Section 1 of the Luxembourg Law of 

April 6, 2013 on dematerialized securities. Pursuant 

to the Articles of Association, authorization is also 

given to the Board (or delegates duly appointed by 

the Board) to issue shares from time to time within 

the limits of the unissued authorized capital at such 

times and on such terms and conditions, including 

the issue price, as the Board or its delegates may in 

its or their discretion resolve. In particular, without 

limitation, the Board is authorized to issue shares 

in favor of Board members, executives, employees, 

consultants of the Company and the Group, directly 

or under the terms of option, incentive or similar 

plans approved by the Board. The Company does 

not currently hold any of its own shares, nor does a 

third party on behalf of the Company. According to 

Article 49-2 of the 1915 Companies Act and without 

prejudice to the Market Abuse Law and the principle 

of equal treatment of shareholders, the Company 

and its subsidiaries as referred to in Article 49bis 

of the 1915 Companies Act may, directly or through 

a person acting in its own name but on the Com-

pany's behalf, acquire its own shares subject to an 

authorization given by the General Meeting.

COMPLIANCE

Mr. Kay Enbring, the GC of the Company, is also 

acting as compliance officer to ensure compliance 

with standards of conduct and norms prescribed 

by Luxembourg and German law. The compliance 

officer also manages the Company's insiders list 

and informs employees and business partners 

about the relevant legal framework in relation to 

insider transactions and regulations.

ACCOUNTING

The Company's statutory auditor (réviseur d'en-

treprises agréé) is KPMG Luxembourg, Société 

cooperative ("KPMG Luxembourg"). In addition, 

KPMG Luxembourg is also auditing the Company's 

consolidated financial statements prepared in 

accordance with IFRS EU.

CHANGE IN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Yaron Karisi, resigned from his position with ef-

fect from December 30, 2017. Mr. Yuval Dagim was 

appointed as a Board member.

COMPOSITION OF THE SENIOR  
MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD

Board 

As at March 19, 2018 

Moshe Lahmani, Chairman 

Shlomo Zohar, Vice Chairman 

Amit Segev 

Yuval Dagim 

Jörn Stobbe 

Dr. Michael Bütter 

Rabin Savion, CEO

Senior Management 

As at March 19, 2018 

Rabin Savion, CEO 

Florian Goldgruber, CFO 

Eyal Horn, COO

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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A) For information regarding the structure of capital, 

reference is made to Note 6 of the Annual Accounts.

B) The Articles of Incorporation of the Company 

do not contain any restrictions on the transfer of 

shares of the Company except that the Board of Di-

rectors may impose transfer restrictions for shares 

that are registered, listed, quoted, dealt in or on 

have been placed in certain jurisdiction in compli-

ance with the requirements applicable therein.

C) According to the voting rights notifications 

received in fiscal year 2017, the following share-

holders held more than 5% of total voting rights 

attached to Company shares as at December 31, 

2017: ADO Group Ltd., registered office at 1A Ha-

Yarden Street, Airport City 70100, Israel.

D) The control rights of any shares issued in con-

nection with employee share schemes are exercised 

directly by the respective employees.

E) The Articles of Incorporation of the Company do 

not contain any restrictions on voting rights.

F) There are no agreements with shareholders 

which are known to the Company and may result 

in restrictions on the transfer of securities or voting 

rights within the meaning of Directive 2004 / 109 / 

EC (Transparency Directive).

G) Rules governing the appointment and replace-

ment of Board of Directors:

·· The Board of Directors of the Company shall 

be composed of at least one member as long 

as there is only one shareholder of the Com-

pany and if there is more than one sharehold-

er, the Board of Directors shall be composed 

of at least three members. The Board of Direc-

tors shall be appointed by the General Meeting 

which determines the number, the duration 

of their mandate and the remuneration of the 

members of the Board of Directors.

·· The members are appointed for a duration 

which may not exceed six years. They can be 

removed at any time without justification by 

the General Meeting by a simple majority vote, 

irrespective of the number of shares present 

at such General Meeting.

·· In the event of a vacancy in the office of a 

member of the Board of Directors because 

of death, retirement, resignation, dismissal, 

removal or otherwise, the remaining mem-

bers of the Board of Directors may fill such 

vacancy and appoint a successor to act until 

the next meeting of the General Meeting at 

which such appointment shall be confirmed 

by the General Meeting or at which the Gen-

eral Meeting may appoint another member of 

the Board of Directors.

·· The Board of Directors shall elect from among 

its ranks a chairman of the Board of Directors 

(the "Chairman of the Board of Directors") and, 

if the Board of Directors is composed of more 

than one member, an executive vice-chairman 

(the "Executive Vice-Chairman") and one or 

more deputy chairmen.

·· The Chairman of the Board of Directors 

shall preside at meetings of the Board of 

Directors. In his absence, the Executive 

Vice-Chairman or one of the deputy chair-

men of the Board of Directors shall take his 

place. In case of a parity of votes the vote of 

the Chairman shall be decisive.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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H) Powers of the Board of Directors:

·· The Board of Directors convenes when

ever required by the Company's affairs. The 

meetings shall be called by the Chairman of 

the Board of Directors or, in his absence, by 

the Executive Vice-Chairman or one of the 

deputy chairmen of the Board of Directors. 

Furthermore, the Board of Directors shall be 

convened if so requested by any member of 

the Board of Directors.

·· Each member of the Board of Directors may 

mandate another member of the Board of Direc-

tors in writing to represent him. Each member 

may represent one or more of his colleagues.

·· The validity of deliberations made or resolu-

tions passed by the Board of Directors is sub-

ject to a majority of the members of the Board 

of Directors being present or represented.

·· The resolutions of the Board of Directors are 

passed by simple majority of the members 

of the Board of Directors that are present or 

represented at the meeting.

·· Resolutions by the Board of Directors can also 

be adopted in the form of circular resolutions 

with identical contents which are signed by 

all of the members of the Board of Directors 

on one single copy or in counterparts. The 

resolutions passed by the Board of Directors 

shall be recorded in minutes to be signed by 

at least two members of the Board of Direc-

tors present at the respective meeting (or by 

the member of the Board of Directors if there 

is only one member of the Board of Direc-

tors). Minutes signed separately by members 

of the Board of Directors shall establish valid 

and binding minutes when combined into one 

document.

·· The management of the Company is incumbent 

on the Board of Directors; for this, it has the 

most extensive powers. Its competence ex-

tends to all legal acts which are not, expressly 

by law or these Articles of Association, the 

prerogative of the General Meeting. The Board 

of Directors may, in particular, purchase real 

estate directly or through intervening compa-

nies, Issue bonds and other debt obligations, 

provide mortgages or other security, reduce 

or forgive debts and conclude settlements on 

behalf of the Company.

·· The Board of Directors may delegate the daily 

management to one or more members of the 

Board of Directors or third persons who need 

not be shareholders and will be called daily 

manager(s) (the "Daily Manager"). The Board of 

Directors may revoke such delegation of any 

one or more Daily Managers at any time.

·· The Board of Directors may, under its super-

vision, delegate powers to a management 

committee or a general manager subject to 

such delegation not being made in respect of 

the strategy of the Company or the entirety of 

all the powers of the Board of Directors.

·· The Board of Directors may, from among its 

ranks and/or external persons, constitute 

committees whose functions and powers are 

stipulated in rules of procedure for the respec-

tive committee. To the extent permitted by law, 

decision making powers of the Board of Direc-

tors may be transferred to such committees.

·· The Company shall be bound by (i) the joint 

signatures of two members of the Board of 

Directors or (ii) by the sole or joint signature(s) 

of any person or persons to whom such signa-

tory power shall have been delegated by the 

Board of Directors.

I) There are no significant agreements to which the 

Company is party and which take effect, alter or 

terminate upon a change of control of the Company 

following a takeover bid.

J) There are no agreements between the Company 

and its Board of Directors or employees providing 

for compensation if they resign or are made redun-

dant without valid reason or if their employment 

ceases because of a takeover bid.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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